21ST CENTURY HOLDING CO Form 10-K March 31, 2011

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-K

T Annual Report under Section 13 or 15(d) of the Se For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010	ecurities Act of 1934
	or
£ Transition Report under Section 13 or 15(d) of the	Securities Eychongs Act of 1024
For the transition period oftoto	
Commission	on file number: 0-2500111
21st Cent	tury Holding Company
	sistrant as specified in its Charter)
(Exact name of regi	istrant as specified in its Charlet)
Florida	65-0248866
(State or other jurisdiction of	(I.R.S. Employer Identification
incorporation or organization)	No)
3661 West Oakland Park Boulevard, Su 33311 (Address of principal executiv	1
(Address of principal executiv	ve offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area code	(954) 581-9993
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the	Exchange Act:
Title of Each Class	Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share	NASDAQ Global Market, LLC
common stock, par varae 40.01 per share	THISSITY GOOD THAIRING DEC
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the None	Exchange Act:

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes £ No T

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes £ No T

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YesT No £

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has electronically submitted and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required

to submit and post such files). Yes £ No £

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. £

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definition of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer  $\pounds$  Accelerated filer  $\pounds$  Non-accelerated filer  $\pounds$  Smaller reporting company T

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes£ No T

The aggregate market value of the Registrant's common stock held by non-affiliates was \$27,558,314 on June 30, 2010, computed on the basis of the closing sale price of the Registrant's common stock on that date.

As of March 31, 2011, the total number of common shares outstanding of Registrant's common stock was 7,946,384.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	
	None.
- 1 -	

# 21st Century Holding Company

# Table of Contents

PART I		3
ITEM 1	BUSINESS	3
ITEM 1A	RISK FACTORS	26
ITEM 1B	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS	37
ITEM 2	<u>PROPERTIES</u>	37
ITEM 3	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	37
ITEM 4	RESERVED	37
PART II		38
ITEM 5	MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	38
ITEM 6	SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	39
ITEM 7	MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	41
ITEM 7A	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK	73
ITEM 8	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	75
ITEM 9	CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE	120
ITEM 9A	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	120
ITEM 9B	OTHER INFORMATION	120
PART III		121
ITEM 10	DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	121
ITEM 11	EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	125
ITEM 12		130

	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	
ITEM 13	CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE	132
ITEM 14	PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES	132
PART IV		134
ITEM 15	EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 10-K	134
<u>SIGNATURES</u>		137
-2-		

#### **Table of Contents**

21st Century Holding Company

#### PART I

#### SPECIAL NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to our business plans, objectives and expected operating results, and the assumptions upon which those statements are based, are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statements generally are identified by words "believes," "project," "expects," "anticipates," "estimates," "intends," "strategy," "plan," "may," "will," "would," "will be," "will continue," "will likely resexpressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. A detailed discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from such forward-looking statements is included in the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

#### ITEM 1 BUSINESS

#### **GENERAL**

21st Century Holding Company ("21st Century", "Company", "we", "us") is an insurance holding company, which, through our subsidiaries and our contractual relationships with our independent agents and general agents, controls substantially all aspects of the insurance underwriting, distribution and claims processes. We are authorized to underwrite homeowners' multi-peril ("homeowners"), personal umbrella, commercial general liability, following form commercial excess liability, personal and commercial automobile, fire, allied lines, workers' compensation, business personal property and commercial inland marine insurance. We are authorized to underwrite in various states on behalf of our wholly owned subsidiary, Federated National Insurance Company ("Federated National") and other insurance carriers. Federated National is the resulting entity following the merger of Federated National into our other wholly owned subsidiary, American Vehicle Insurance Company ("American Vehicle"), in January 2011. In connection with this merger, the Company, Federated National and American Vehicle entered into the Consent Order with the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation ("Florida OIR"). See "Recent Developments – Consent Order". We market and distribute our own and third-party insurers' products and our other services through a network of independent agents. We also utilize a select number of general agents for the same purpose.

The insurable events during 2010, 2009 and 2008 did not include any weather related catastrophic events such as the well publicized series of hurricanes that occurred in Florida during 2005 and 2004. During 2010, 2009 and 2008 we processed property and liability claims stemming from our homeowners', commercial general liability and private passenger automobile lines of business. Our reinsurance strategy serves to smooth the liquidity requirements imposed by most severe insurable events and for all other insurable events we manage, at a micro and macro perspective, in the normal course of business.

We are not certain how hurricanes and other insurable events will affect our future results of operations and liquidity. Loss and loss adjustment expenses ("LAE") are affected by a number of factors including the following.

the quality of the insurable risks underwritten; the nature and severity of the loss;

weather-related patterns;
 the availability, cost and terms of reinsurance;
 underlying settlement costs, including medical and legal costs;
 legal and political factors such as legislative initiatives and public opinion;
 macroeconomic issues.

We continue to manage the foregoing to the extent within our control. Many of the foregoing are partially, or entirely, outside our control.

Federated National is licensed as an admitted carrier in Florida. Through contractual relationships with a network of approximately 4,200 independent agents, of which approximately 400 actively sell and service our products, Federated National is authorized to underwrite homeowners', fire, allied lines and personal automobile insurance in Florida. Effective January 26, 2011, Federated National merged into American Vehicle.

- 3 -

#### **Table of Contents**

## 21st Century Holding Company

American Vehicle is licensed as an admitted carrier in Florida, and underwrites commercial general liability, and personal and commercial automobile insurance. American Vehicle is also licensed as an admitted carrier in Alabama, Louisiana, Georgia and Texas, and underwrites commercial general liability insurance in those states. American Vehicle operates as a non-admitted carrier in Arkansas, California, Kentucky, Maryland, Missouri, Nevada, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia, and can underwrite commercial general liability insurance in all of these states.

An admitted carrier is an insurance company that has received a license from the state department of insurance giving the company the authority to write specific lines of insurance in that state. These companies are also bound by rate and form regulations, and are strictly regulated to protect policyholders from a variety of illegal and unethical practices, including fraud. Admitted carriers are also required to financially contribute to the state guarantee fund, which is used to pay for losses if an insurance carrier becomes insolvent or unable to pay the losses due their policyholders.

A non-admitted carrier is not licensed by the state, but is allowed to do business in that state and is strictly regulated to protect policyholders from a variety of illegal and unethical practices, including fraud. Sometimes, non-admitted carriers are referred to as "excess and surplus" lines carriers. Non-admitted carriers are subject to considerably less regulation with respect to policy rates and forms. Non-admitted carriers are not required to financially contribute to and benefit from the state guarantee fund, which is used to pay for losses if an insurance carrier becomes insolvent or unable to pay the losses due their policyholders.

During 2010, 79.7%, 12.3%, 4.1% and 3.9% of the premiums we underwrote were for homeowners', commercial general liability, federal flood, and personal automobile insurance, respectively. During 2009, 81.2%, 14.6%, 3.4% and 0.8% of the premiums we underwrote were for homeowners', commercial general liability, federal flood, and personal automobile insurance, respectively.

The Company's sale of homeowners' policies decreased \$7.9 million, or 9.3%, to \$76.8 million in 2010, compared with \$84.7 million in 2009, primarily due to the effects of Florida's mandated homeowners' wind mitigation discounts and the 2009 inclusion of \$17.9 million from policies we assumed from Citizens Property Insurance Corporation ("Citizens"). The primary factor for the decrease in commercial general liability production is a slowdown in the economy, which had a dramatic impact on the artisan contractor portfolio written by American Vehicle.

Our business, results of operations and financial condition are subject to fluctuations due to a variety of factors. Abnormally high severity or frequency of claims in any period could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. When our estimated liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE are less than the actuarially determined amounts, we increase the expense in the current period. Conversely, when our estimated liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE are greater than the actuarially determined amounts, we decrease the expense in the current period.

We internally process claims made by our insureds through our wholly owned claims adjusting company, Superior Adjusting, Inc. ("Superior"). We also offer premium financing to our own and third-party insureds through our wholly owned subsidiary, Federated Premium Finance, Inc. ("Federated Premium").

Our executive offices are located at 3661 West Oakland Park Boulevard, Suite 300, Lauderdale Lakes, Florida and our telephone number is (954) 581-9993.

Our internet web site is www.21stcenturyholding.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports are available, free of charge, through our website

as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such material to the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Further, a copy of this annual report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding our filings at www.sec.gov.

- 4 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

#### RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

#### Consent Order

As part of its approval of the merger between Federated National and American Vehicle, the Florida OIR, the Company, Federated National and American Vehicle entered into a consent order with the Florida OIR dated January 25, 2011 (the "Consent Order") pursuant to which the Company and the resulting company in the merger (the "Merged Company") have agreed to the following:

- The Merged Company shall retain the following licenses: (010) Fire, (020) Allied Lines, (040) Homeowners Multi Peril, (050) Commercial Multi Peril, (090) Inland Marine, (170) Other Liability, (192) Private Passenger Auto Liability, (194) Commercial Auto Liability, (211) Private Passenger Auto Physical Damage and (212) Commercial Auto Physical Damage.
- The Merged Company shall not write commercial multi peril policy premium without prior approval from the Florida OIR. The Merged Company currently has no commercial multi peril policy premium in force.
- The Merged Company shall surrender its surety license. The Merged Company currently has no Surety policy premium in force.
- The Merged Company shall not write new commercial habitation condominium associations without prior approval from the Florida OIR. The current commercial habitation book of business is approximately \$2.6 million of policy premium, which will be renewed pursuant to normal underwriting guidelines.
- The Merged Company has agreed to reduce the total number of its homeowners' policies in Miami-Dade, Broward and Palm Beach counties (the "Tri-County Area") to 40% of its entire homeowners' book by December 31, 2011 and limit its new homeowners' policies in the Tri-County Area to \$500,000 of new policy premium per month. The 40% will be achieved through the increased writing of property located outside of the Tri-County Area, the non-renewal of certain policies located within the Tri-County Area, and limiting the writing of new property located within the Tri-County Area. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had approximately 46.5% of its homeowners' policies located within Tri-County Area.
- •The managing general agency fees payable by the Merged Company to Assurance Managing General Agents, Inc. ("Assurance MGA"), the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, which are currently 6% of gross written premium, will be reduced and will not exceed 4% without prior approval from the Florida OIR. The Merged Company has lowered the fee to 2% of gross written premium for the first quarter of 2011, 3% of gross written premium for the second quarter of 2011, and 4% of gross written premium thereafter. This will have no impact on the Company's consolidated financial results.
- •The claims service fees payable by the Merged Company to Superior will be reduced from 4.5% of gross earned premium to 3.6% of gross earned premium. This will have no impact on the Company's consolidated financial results.
- The Consent Order continues the prohibition on the Company from the payment of dividends until the Merged Company reports two consecutive quarters of net underwriting income.

•

The Company provided the Florida OIR with a plan of operation and has agreed to provide certain reports to the Florida OIR on a monthly basis, and agreed to obtain the Florida OIR's approval prior to making any changes to the officers of the Merged Company during the first year following the effective date of the Merger.

## **BUSINESS STRATEGY**

We expect that in 2011 we will capitalize on our operational efficiencies and business practices through:

- improved property analytical qualities such as a broader geographical dispersion of risks throughout the state of Florida and avoiding risks that do not yield an underwriting profit;
  - continued territorial expansion of our commercial general liability, inland marine, and private passenger automobile insurance products into additional states;

- 5 -

## **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

- employing our business practices developed and used in Florida in our expansion to other selected states;
  - maintaining a commitment to provide high quality customer service to our agents and insureds;
- expansion of our marketing efforts by retaining key personnel and implementing direct marketing technologies;
  - offering attractive incentives to our agents to place a high volume of quality business with our companies;
- offering our employees continuing education classes appropriate to the respective discipline employed within this organization;
  - assumption of existing risks from other carriers; and
- additional strategies that may include possible acquisitions or further dispositions of assets, and development of procedures to improve claims history and mitigate losses from claims.

There can be no assurances, however, that any of the foregoing strategies will be developed or successfully implemented or, if implemented, that they will positively affect our results of operations.

Additionally, State of Florida legislative initiatives, increased competition, softening general market conditions and additional loss development from catastrophic events over three years old suggest that continued financial challenges exist in 2011.

The Company expects the recently approved additional rate increase for our voluntary property book of homeowners' business, averaging 20.2% statewide, to gain momentum and accrete throughout 2011. Furthermore, the Company anticipates favorable pricing terms on our upcoming reinsurance contracts because early indicators show that there is ample capital availability in the private reinsurance markets. Additionally, we will continue to seek improvements in our marketing strategies intended to attract profitable distribution channels while maintaining compliance with our underwriting guidelines.

#### INSURANCE OPERATIONS AND RELATED SERVICES

# General

We are authorized to underwrite homeowners', personal umbrella, commercial general liability, following form commercial excess liability, personal and commercial automobile, fire, allied lines, workers' compensation, business personal property and commercial inland marine insurance in various states on behalf of our wholly owned subsidiary, Federated National.

Effective January 26, 2011, Federated National merged with and into American Vehicle, and the resulting entity changed its name to "Federated National Insurance Company". In connection with this merger, the Company, Federated National and American Vehicle entered into the Consent Order with the Florida OIR. See "Recent Developments – Consent Order".

Federated National is licensed as an admitted carrier in Florida. Through contractual relationships with a network of approximately 4,200 independent agents, of which approximately 400 actively sell and service our products, Federated National is authorized to underwrite homeowners', fire, allied lines and personal automobile insurance in

## Florida.

American Vehicle is licensed as an admitted carrier in Florida, and underwrites commercial general liability, and personal and commercial automobile insurance. American Vehicle is also licensed as an admitted carrier in Alabama, Louisiana, Georgia and Texas, and underwrites commercial general liability insurance in those states. American Vehicle operates as a non-admitted carrier in Arkansas, California, Kentucky, Maryland, Missouri, Nevada, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia, and can underwrite commercial general liability insurance in all of these states.

- 6 -

## **Table of Contents**

## 21st Century Holding Company

The following tables set forth the amount and percentages of our consolidated gross premiums written, premiums ceded to reinsurers and net premiums written by line of business for the periods indicated.

Years Ended December 31,									
20	2010 2009					2008			
Premium	Percent		Premium	Percent		Premium	Percent		
			(Dollars in	Thousands)					
\$3,721	3.9	%	\$836	0.8	%	\$487	0.6	%	
3,951	4.1	%	3,559	3.4	%	3,263	3.7	%	
76,845	79.7	%	84,705	81.2	%	60,708	68.7	%	
11,894	12.3	%	15,279	14.6	%	23,790	27.0	%	
\$96,411	100.0	%	\$104,379	100.0	%	\$88,248	100.0	%	
\$1,882	3.6	%	\$14	0.0	%	\$-	0.0	%	
3,951	7.5	%	3,559	6.3	%	3,263	9.4	%	
46,893	88.5	%	52,518	93.5	%	31,290	90.6	%	
238	0.4	%	126	0.2	%	-	0.0	%	
\$52,964	100.0	%	\$56,217	100.0	%	\$34,553	100.0	%	
\$1,839	4.3	%	\$822	1.7	%	\$487	0.9	%	
-	0.0	%	-	0.0	%	-	0.0	%	
29,952	68.9	%	32,187	66.8	%	29,418	54.8	%	
11.656	26.8	%	15.153	31.5	%	23,790	44.3	%	
11,000			,			- ,			
	\$3,721 3,951 76,845 11,894 \$96,411 \$1,882 3,951 46,893 238 \$52,964 \$1,839 - 29,952	Premium       Percent         \$3,721       3.9         3,951       4.1         76,845       79.7         11,894       12.3         \$96,411       100.0         \$1,882       3.6         3,951       7.5         46,893       88.5         238       0.4         \$52,964       100.0         \$1,839       4.3         -       0.0         29,952       68.9	2010 Premium Percent  \$3,721 3.9 % 3,951 4.1 % 76,845 79.7 % 11,894 12.3 % \$96,411 100.0 %  \$1,882 3.6 % 3,951 7.5 % 46,893 88.5 % 238 0.4 % \$52,964 100.0 %  \$1,839 4.3 % - 0.0 % 29,952 68.9 %	2010       20         Premium       Percent       Premium (Dollars in)         \$3,721       3.9       % \$836         3,951       4.1       % 3,559         76,845       79.7       % 84,705         11,894       12.3       % 15,279         \$96,411       100.0       % \$104,379         \$1,882       3.6       % \$14         3,951       7.5       % 3,559         46,893       88.5       % 52,518         238       0.4       % 126         \$52,964       100.0       % \$56,217         \$1,839       4.3       % \$822         -       0.0       % -         29,952       68.9       % 32,187	Premium         Percent         Premium (Dollars in Thousands)           \$3,721         3.9         % \$836         0.8           3,951         4.1         % 3,559         3.4           76,845         79.7         % 84,705         81.2           11,894         12.3         % 15,279         14.6           \$96,411         100.0         % \$104,379         100.0           \$1,882         3.6         % \$14         0.0           3,951         7.5         % 3,559         6.3           46,893         88.5         % 52,518         93.5           238         0.4         % 126         0.2           \$52,964         100.0         % \$56,217         100.0           \$1,839         4.3         % \$822         1.7           -         0.0         -         0.0           29,952         68.9         % 32,187         66.8	2010         2009           Premium         Percent (Dollars in Thousands)           \$3,721         3.9         % \$836         0.8         %           3,951         4.1         % 3,559         3.4         %           76,845         79.7         % 84,705         81.2         %           11,894         12.3         % 15,279         14.6         %           \$96,411         100.0         % \$104,379         100.0         %           \$1,882         3.6         % \$14         0.0         %           3,951         7.5         % 3,559         6.3         %           46,893         88.5         % 52,518         93.5         %           238         0.4         % 126         0.2         %           \$52,964         100.0         % \$56,217         100.0         %           \$1,839         4.3         % \$822         1.7         %           -         0.0         %         -         0.0         %           29,952         68.9         % 32,187         66.8         %	Premium         Percent         Premium (Dollars in Thousands)         Percent (Dollars in Thousands)         Premium (Dollars in Thousands)         Premium (Dollars in Thousands)         Premium (Dollars in Thousands)         Premium (Dollars in Thousands)         \$3,721         3.9         % \$836         0.8         % \$487         \$3,951         4.1         % 3,559         3.4         % 3,263         \$3,263         \$60,708         \$11,894         \$12.3         % 15,279         \$14.6         % 23,790         \$96,411         \$100.0         % \$104,379         \$100.0         % \$88,248           \$1,882         3.6         % \$14         0.0         % \$88,248           \$1,882         3.6         % \$14         0.0         % \$3,263           46,893         88.5         % 52,518         93.5         % 31,290           238         0.4         % 126         0.2         % -           \$52,964         100.0         % \$56,217         100.0         % \$34,553           \$1,839         4.3         % \$822         1.7         % \$487           -         0.0         % -         0.0         % -           29,952         68.9         % 32,187         66.8         % 29,418	Premium         Percent (Dollars in Thousands)         Premium Percent (Dollars in Thousands)         Percent (Dollars in Thousands)	

We marketed our insurance products through our network of approximately 4,200 independent agents, of which approximately 400 actively sell and service our products, and general agents during fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008.

# Homeowners' Property and Casualty Insurance

Federated National underwrites homeowners' insurance primarily in the South, West and Central Florida regions. Homeowners' insurance generally protects an owner of real and personal property against covered causes of loss to that property. The table that follows reflects the number of homeowner policies in-force by South Florida counties and all other Florida counties and reflects our concentrations of risk from catastrophic events.

				In-Force F	Policy Cou	nt			
			`	Years Ended	Decembe	r 31,			
	20	010		20	009		2	2008	
County	Amount	Percentag	ge	Amount	Percent	age	Amount	Percen	tage
Dade	2,835	6.6	%	3,544	6.7	%	2,981	9.7	%
Broward	5,008	11.6	%	4,139	7.9	%	3,629	11.8	%
Pinellas	3,437	8.0	%	5,147	9.8	%	(a	0.0	%
Hillsborough	3,265	7.6	%	4,505	8.6	%	(a	0.0	%

Edgar Filing: 21ST CENTURY HOLDING CO - Form 10-K

West Palm Beach	12,221	28.3	% 14,543	27.6	%	14,152	45.7	%
All others	16,366	37.9	% 20,728	39.4	%	10,122	32.8	%
Total	43,132	100.0	% 52,606	100.0	%	30,884	100.0	%

# (a) immaterial amounts are included in "All Others"

Our homeowner insurance products typically provide maximum dwelling coverage in the amount of approximately \$0.8 million, with the aggregate maximum policy limit being approximately \$1.5 million. We continually subject these limits to review; though there were no material changes during 2010. The approximate average premium on the policies currently in-force is \$1,803, as compared with \$1,696 for 2009. The typical deductible is either \$2,500 or \$1,000 for non-hurricane-related claims and generally 2% of the coverage amount for the structure for hurricane-related claims.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Premium rates charged to our homeowner insurance policyholders are continually evaluated to assure that they meet the expectation that they are actuarially sound and produce a reasonable level of profit (neither excessive nor inadequate). Premium rates are regulated and approved by the Florida OIR. Our 14.9% rate increase in connection with our Citizens assumptions was approved during 2010 by the Florida OIR.

The Company expects the recently approved additional rate increase for our voluntary property book of homeowners' business, averaging 20.2% statewide, to improve our total revenues throughout 2011. During 2009, the Florida OIR granted Federated National an average statewide increase of 19.0% for new and renewal policies which were not part of the Citizens assumptions, effective November 1, 2009 and December 1, 2009, respectively. Previous to this filing was our May 2008 "file and use" rate filing that reflected an average rate decrease of 11.3%.

## Commercial Residential Property Insurance

During 2009 the Florida OIR granted Federated National the authority to write commercial residential property insurance under the fire line of business. This class of business affords property coverage primarily to associations with property commonly owned by the tenants of the association. Aggregate policy limits ranged between \$1.0 million and \$20.0 million. Additionally, the Company has secured automatic facultative reinsurance for insured values up to \$10.0 million with permission to individually submit attractive risks greater than \$10 million to our reinsurers for quote and binding authority. Typically, Federated National retains the first \$1.0 million of loss and cedes the remaining balance via our facultative treaty.

These risks are significantly different from the homeowner risks discussed previously in terms of insured value, frequency of covered loss and marketing techniques. We market this program directly to a select number of reputable agencies throughout the state of Florida.

#### Commercial General Liability and Inland Marine

We underwrite commercial general liability insurance for approximately 350 classes of artisan (excluding home-builders and developers) and mercantile trades (such as owners, landlords and tenants). The limits of liability range from \$100,000 per occurrence with a \$200,000 policy aggregate to \$1.0 million per occurrence with a \$2.0 million policy aggregate. We continually subject these limits to review, though there were no changes during 2010. We market the commercial general liability insurance products through independent agents and a limited number of general agencies unaffiliated with the Company. The average annual premium on policies currently in-force during 2010 is approximately \$838, as compared with \$854 in 2009.

The following table sets forth the amounts and percentages of our gross premiums written in connection with our commercial general liability program by state.

				Years Ended	d December	31,			
	20	010		2	2009	2008			
	Amount	Amount Percentage		Amount	Percenta	ge	Amount	Percenta	ge
						_			
State									
Alabama	\$46	0.39	%	\$76	0.50	%	\$117	0.49	%
Arkansas	1	0.01	%	4	0.03	%	12	0.05	%
California	34	0.29	%	49	0.32	%	269	1.13	%
Florida	9,972	83.85	%	12,341	80.77	%	16,011	67.30	%

Edgar Filing: 21ST CENTURY HOLDING CO - Form 10-K

Georgia	68	0.57	% 291	1.91	%	568	2.39	%
Kentucky	-	0.00	% 1	0.00	%	1	0.00	%
Louisiana	1,094	9.19	% 1,736	11.36	%	4,481	18.84	%
Maryland	9	0.07	% -	0.00	%	2	0.01	%
South Carolina	1	0.01	% 2	0.01	%	70	0.29	%
Texas	665	5.59	% 778	5.09	%	2,252	9.47	%
Virginia	4	0.03	% 1	0.01	%	7	0.03	%
Total	\$11,894	100.00	% \$15,279	100.00	% \$	323,790	100.00	%

In 2009 American Vehicle entered into a treaty to assume 50% of the business produced by Assurance MGA for United Specialty Insurance Company ("United Specialty") and State National Insurance Company ("State National"). Both United Specialty and State National are "A" rated by A.M. Best Company ("A.M. Best"). Under the terms of the treaty, Assurance MGA will underwrite several products within the commercial general liability and inland marine lines of business for United Specialty and State National. United Specialty and State National will cede 100% of the book of business to an "A" rated reinsurer. American Vehicle has agreed to assume 50% of the business assumed by the "A" rated reinsurer under a retrocession agreement. The commercial general liability average premium is \$838 with single limits up to \$1.0 million and policy limits of \$2.0 million. The inland marine average premium is \$593 with policy limit amounts not to exceed \$50,000 without specific underwriting approval from reinsurers. During 2011, the companies mutually agreed to suspend this treaty effective May 15, 2011.

#### **Table of Contents**

# 21st Century Holding Company

#### Personal Automobile

Personal automobile insurance markets can be divided into two categories, standard automobile and nonstandard automobile. Standard personal automobile insurance is principally provided to insureds who present an average risk profile in terms of driving record, vehicle type and other factors. Nonstandard personal automobile insurance is principally provided to insureds that are unable to obtain standard insurance coverage because of their driving record, age, vehicle type or other factors, including market conditions. The average annual premium on policies currently in-force is approximately \$1,325, as compared with \$1,196 for 2009, and the nonstandard personal automobile insurance lines represents 100% of our written premiums for personal automobile insurance in 2010 and 2009.

Limits on standard personal automobile insurance are generally significantly higher than those for nonstandard coverage, but typically provide for deductibles and other restrictive terms. Underwriting criteria for standard coverage has become more restrictive, thereby requiring more insureds to seek nonstandard coverage and contributing to the increase in the size of the nonstandard automobile market. Nonstandard automobile insurance, however, generally involves the potential for increased loss exposure and higher claims experience. Loss exposure is mitigated because premiums usually are written at higher rates than those written for standard insurance coverage.

Both of our insurance subsidiaries did underwrite in 2010 nonstandard personal automobile insurance in Florida, where the maximum exposures are predominantly \$10,000 per individual, \$20,000 per accident for bodily injury, \$10,000 per accident for property damage, and predominantly \$50,000 for comprehensive and collision. In addition, American Vehicle writes commercial automobile insurance in Florida. The maximum exposure is predominantly \$30,000 on a combined single limit basis.

We underwrite new and renewal policies for this coverage on primarily an annual basis and to a much lesser extent, on a semi-annual basis.

Due to the purchasing habits of nonstandard automobile insureds (for example, nonstandard automobile insureds tend to seek the least expensive insurance required of the policyholder by statute that satisfies the requirements of state laws to register a vehicle), policy renewal rates tend to be low compared with standard policies. Our experience has been that a significant number of existing nonstandard policyholders allow their policies to lapse and then reapply for insurance as new policyholders.

American Vehicle underwrites standard personal automobile insurance policies providing coverage no higher than \$100,000 per individual, \$300,000 per accident for bodily injury, \$50,000 per accident for property damage and comprehensive and collision up to \$50,000 per accident, with deductibles ranging from \$200 to \$1,000. The average premium on the policies in-force was \$1,409 for 2010.

#### Flood

Federated National writes flood insurance through the National Flood Insurance Program ("NFIP"). We write the policy for the NFIP, which assumes 100% of the flood risk while we retain a commission for our service. The average flood policy premium is approximately \$570 with limits up to \$250,000. Commissions in connection with this program totaled \$0.2 million, \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Pursuant to the Florida OIR regulations, we are required to report write-your-own-flood premiums on a direct and ceded basis for 2008 and subsequent years. Prior to 2008, we reported only the commissions income associated with this program.

# Assurance MGA

Assurance MGA, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acts as Federated National's and American Vehicle's exclusive managing general agent in the state of Florida and is also licensed as a managing general agent in the states of Alabama, Arkansas, Georgia, Illinois, Louisiana, North Carolina, Mississippi, Missouri, New York, Nevada, South Carolina, Texas and Virginia. Assurance MGA has contracted with several unaffiliated insurance companies to sell commercial general liability, workers compensation, personal umbrella and inland marine insurance through Assurance MGA's existing network of agents.

- 9 -

#### **Table of Contents**

## 21st Century Holding Company

Assurance MGA earns commissions and fees for providing policy administration, marketing, accounting and analytical services, and for participating in the negotiation of reinsurance contracts. Assurance MGA earns a \$25 per policy fee, and a 6% commission fee from its affiliates Federated National and American Vehicle. Effective the fourth quarter of 2010, Assurance MGA entered into a fee modification agreement wherein it will earn varying amounts between 2% and 4%, returning to 6% at an unknown future date.

The homeowner policy provides Assurance MGA the right to cancel any policy within a period of 90 days from the policy's inception with 25 days' notice, or after 90 days from policy inception with 95 days' notice, even if the risk falls within our underwriting criteria.

#### Superior

Superior processes claims made by insureds from Federated National and American Vehicle. Our agents have no authority to settle claims or otherwise exercise control over the claims process. Furthermore, we believe that the retention of independent adjusters, in addition to the employment of salaried claims personnel, results in reduced ultimate loss payments, lower LAE and improved customer service for our claimants and policyholders. We also employ an in-house legal department to cost-effectively manage claims-related litigation and to monitor our claims handling practices for efficiency and regulatory compliance.

#### Federated Premium

Federated Premium provides premium financing to Federated National's, American Vehicle's and third-party's insureds. Premium financing has been marketed through our distribution network of general agents and independent agents.

Premiums for property and casualty insurance, in certain circumstances, are payable at the time a policy is placed inforce or renewed. Federated Premium's services allow the insured to pay a portion of the premium when the policy is placed in-force and the balance in monthly installments over a specified term, generally between six and nine months. As security, Federated Premium retains a contractual right, if a premium installment is not paid when due, to cancel the insurance policy and to receive the unearned premium from the insurer, or in the event of insolvency of an insurer, from FIGA, subject to a \$100 per policy deductible. In the event of cancellation, Federated Premium applies the unearned premium towards the payment obligation of the insured.

Finance contracts receivable remained unchanged at \$0.3 million as of December 31, 2010, compared with \$0.3 million as of December 31, 2009.

The Company anticipates continued use of the direct bill feature associated with Federated National lines of business. The direct billing opportunity is very similar to the premium finance arrangement with respect to down payments and scheduled monthly payments. Direct billing is when the insurance company accepts from the insured, as a receivable, a promise to pay the premium, as opposed to requiring payment of the full amount of the policy, either directly from the insured or from a premium finance company. We believe that the direct billing program does not increase our risk because the insurance policy, which serves as collateral, is managed by our computer system. Underwriting criteria are designed with down payment requirements and monthly payments that create policyholder equity in the insurance policy. The equity in the policy is collateral for the extension of credit to the insured.

Through our monitoring systems, we track delinquent payments and, in accordance with the terms of the extension of credit, cancel if payment is not made. If any excess premium remains after cancellation of the policy and deduction of

applicable penalties, this excess is refunded to the policyholder. Similarly, we believe that the premium financing that we offer to our own insureds involves limited credit risk. By primarily financing policies underwritten by our own insurance carriers, our credit risks are reduced because we can more securely rely on the underwriting processes of our own insurance carriers. Furthermore, the direct bill program enables us to closely manage our risk while providing credit to our insureds.

Insure-Link, Inc. ("Insure-Link")

Insure-Link was formed in March 2008 to serve as an independent insurance agency. The insurance agency markets direct to the public to provide a variety of insurance products and services to individual clients, as well as business clients, by offering a full line of insurance products including, but not limited to, homeowners', personal and commercial automobile, commercial general liability and workers' compensation insurance through their agency appointments with over fifty different carriers. Insure-Link will expand its business through marketing and by acquiring other insurance agencies. There were no other agency relationships with affiliated captive or franchised agents in 2010, 2009 and 2008.

- 10 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

#### MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION

We are focusing our marketing efforts on continuing to expand our distribution network and market our products and services throughout Florida and in other states by establishing relationships with additional independent agents and general agents. As this occurs, we will seek to replicate our distribution network in those states. For example, American Vehicle became an admitted insurer in the state of Georgia during the quarter ended September 30, 2010. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to obtain the required regulatory approvals to offer additional insurance products or expand into other states.

Our independent agents and general agents have the authority to sell and bind insurance coverage in accordance with procedures established by Assurance MGA. Assurance MGA reviews all coverage bound by the agents promptly and generally accepts all coverage that falls within stated underwriting criteria. For automobile and commercial general liability policies, Assurance MGA also has the right, within a period that varies by state between 60 days and 120 days from a policy's inception, to cancel any policy, upon an advanced notice provided in accordance with statutory specific guidelines, even if the risk falls within our underwriting criteria.

We believe that our integrated computer system, which allows for rapid automated premium quotation and policy issuance by our agents, is a key element in providing quality service to both our agents and insureds for various lines of our business. For example, upon entering a customer's basic personal information, the customer's driving record is accessed and a premium rate is quoted. If the customer chooses to purchase the insurance, the system can generate the policy on-site.

We believe that the management of our distribution system now centers on our ability to capture and maintain relevant data by producing agents. We believe that information management of agent production, coupled with loss experience, will enable us to maximize profitability.

#### REINSURANCE AGREEMENTS

Financing risk generally involves a combination of risk retention and risk transfer techniques. Retention, similar to a deductible, involves financing losses by funds internally generated. Transfer involves the existence of a contractual arrangement designed to shift financial responsibility to another party in exchange for premium. Secondary to the primary risk-transfer agreements there are reinsurance agreements. Following reinsurance agreements there are also retro-cessionary reinsurance agreements; each designed to shift financial responsibility based on predefined conditions. Generally, there are three separate kinds of reinsurance structures – quota share, excess of loss, and facultative, each considered either proportional or non-proportional. Our reinsurance structures are maintained to protect our insurance subsidiaries against the severity of losses on individual claims or unusually serious occurrences in which the frequency and or the severity of claims produce an aggregate extraordinary loss from catastrophic events.

As is common practice within the insurance industry, we transfer a portion of the risks insured under our policies to other companies through the purchase of reinsurance. We utilize reinsurance to reduce exposure to catastrophic and non-catastrophic risks and to help manage the cost of capital. Reinsurance techniques are designed to lessen earnings volatility, improve shareholder return, and to support the required statutory surplus requirements. Additional rationale to secure reinsurance includes an arbitrage of premium rate, availability of reinsurer's expertise, and improved management of a profitable portfolio of insureds by way of enhanced analytical capacities.

Although reinsurance does not discharge us from our primary obligation to pay for losses insured under the policies we issue, reinsurance does make the assuming reinsurer liable to the insurance subsidiary for the reinsured portion of

the risk. A credit risk exposure exists with respect to ceded losses to the extent that any reinsurer is unable or unwilling to meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance contracts. The collectability of reinsurance is subject to the solvency of the reinsurers, interpretation of contract language and other factors. A reinsurer's insolvency or inability to make payments under the terms of a reinsurance contract could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Our reinsurance structure has significant risks, including the fact that the FHCF may not be able to raise sufficient money to pay its claims or impair its ability to pay its claims in a timely manner. This could result in significant financial, legal and operational challenges to all property and casualty companies associated with FHCF, including our company.

The availability and costs associated with the acquisition of reinsurance will vary year to year. These fluctuations, which can be significant, are not subject to our control and may limit our ability to purchase adequate coverage. For example, FHCF has restricted its very affordable reinsurance capacity for the 2010–2011 and 2009–2010 hurricane seasons and is expected to continue constricting its claim paying capacity for future seasons. This gradual restriction is requiring us to replace that capacity with more expensive private market reinsurance. The recovery of increased reinsurance costs through rate action is not immediate and cannot be presumed, as it is subject to Florida OIR approval. Our reinsurance program is subject to approval by the Florida OIR and review by Demotech, Inc. ("Demotech").

- 11 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Our property lines of business include homeowners' and fire. For the 2010-2011 hurricane season, the excess of loss and FHCF treaties will insure the property lines for approximately \$360.7 million of aggregate catastrophic losses and LAE with a maximum single event coverage totaling approximately \$285.5 million, with the Company retaining the first \$5.0 million of losses and LAE for each event. Our reinsurance program includes coverage purchased from the private market, which affords optional reinstatement premium protection that provides coverage beyond the first event, along with any remaining coverage from the FHCF. Coverage afforded by the FHCF totals approximately \$220.4 million, or 61.1% of the \$360.7 million of aggregate catastrophic losses and LAE. The FHCF affords coverage for the entire season, subject to maximum payouts, without regard to any particular insurable event.

The estimated cost to the Company for the excess of loss reinsurance products for the 2010-2011 hurricane season, inclusive of approximately \$19.1 million payable to the FHCF and the prepaid automatic premium reinstatement protection, is approximately \$46.5 million.

The cost and amounts of reinsurance were originally based on management's analysis of Federated National's exposure to catastrophic risk as of June 30, 2010. Our data was subjected to exposure level analysis as of September 30, 2010. This analysis of our exposure level in relation to the total exposures to the FHCF and excess of loss treaties produced changes in limits and reinsurance premiums because of increase in our exposure level. The September 30, 2010 change to limits total limits was an increase of \$10.3 million or 2.9% and the change to reinsurance premiums was an increase of \$3.7 million or 8.7%. The change to management's June 30, 2010 analysis will be amortized over the remaining balance of the underlying policy term. The Company's retention did not change.

- 12 -

# Table of Contents

Reinsurer

# 21st Century Holding Company

The 2010-2011 private reinsurance companies and their respective A.M. Best rating are listed in the table as follows.

A.M. Best Rating

	Č		
UNITED STATES			
American Agricultural Insurance	A		(2)
Everest Reinsurance Company	A+		(2)
Munich Reinsurance America, Inc.	A+		(2)
QBE Reinsurance Corporation	A		(2)
BERMUDA			
ACE Tempest Reinsurance Ltd.	A+	*	(2)
Actua Re Limited	NR	*	(1)
Amlin Bermuda Limited	A		(2)
Ariel Reinsurance Company Limited	A-	*	
DaVinci Reinsurance Limited	A	*	(2)
Flagstone Reinsurance Limited	A-		
Montpelier Reinsurance Ltd.	A-		(2)
Nephila/ Allianz Risk Trnsfr Zurich (BDA)	NR-5	*	(2)
Renaissance Reinsurance Limited	A+	*	(2)
Torus Insurance (Bermuda) Limited	A-	*	
UNITED KINGDOM			
Antares Syndicate No. 1274 (AUL)	A		(2)
Broadgate Underwriting Limited Syndicate No. 1301			(2)
(BGT)	A		
Arrow Syndicate No. 1910 (ARW)	A	*	(2)
Amlin Syndicate No. 2001 (AML)	A		(2)
Novae Syndicate No. 2007 (NVA)	A		(2)
Houson Casualty Co. (UK Branch)	A+		(2)
EUROPE			
Lansforsakringar Sak Forsakringsaktiebolag	NR-5		(2)
Liberty Syndicates Paris/Syndicate 4472	A		(2)

- \* Reinstatement Premium Protection Program Participants
- (1) Participant has funded a trust agreement for their exposure with approximately \$3.8 million of cash and U.S. Government obligations of American institutions at fair market value.
- (2) Standard & Poor's rated "A" or higher (investment grade economic situation can affect finance)

For the 2009-2010 hurricane season, the excess of loss and FHCF treaties insured the property lines for approximately \$456.6 million of aggregate catastrophic losses and LAE with a maximum single event coverage totaling approximately \$349.7 million, with the Company retaining the first \$5.0 million of losses and LAE for each event. Our reinsurance program included coverage purchased from the private market, which afforded optional reinstatement premium protection that provided coverage beyond the first event, along with coverage from the FHCF. Coverage afforded by the FHCF totaled approximately \$259.0 million, or 56.7% of the \$456.6 million of aggregate catastrophic losses and LAE. The FHCF affords coverage for the entire season, subject to maximum payouts, without regard to any particular insurable event.

- 13 -

# Table of Contents

# 21st Century Holding Company

The 2009-2010 private reinsurance companies and their respective A.M. Best rating are listed in the table as follows.

Reinsurer	A.M. Best Rating	
UNITED STATES		
Everest Reinsurance Company	A+	**
Munich Reinsurance America, Inc.	A+	**
QBE Reinsurance Corporation	A	**
BERMUDA		
ACE Tempest Reinsurance Limited	A+ *	
Amlin Bermuda Limited	A	
Ariel Reinsurance Company Limited	A- *	
DaVinci Reinsurance Limited	A *	
Flagstone Reinsurance Limited	A-	
Hiscox Insurance Company Limited	A *	
Montpelier Reinsurance Limited	A-	
Platinum Underwriters Bermuda Limited	A *	
Renaissance Reinsurance Limited	A+ *	
Torus Insurance (Bermuda) Limited	A- *	
LONDON & EUROPE		
Amlin Syndicate No. 2001 (AML)	A+	**
Antares Syndicate No. 1274 (AUL)	A	**
Arrow Syndicate No. 1910 (ARW)	A *	**
Broadgate Syndicate No. 1301 (BGT)	A	**
Liberty Syndicates Services Limited, Paris for and on behalf of Lloyd's Syndicate No. 4472 (LIB)	A	**
Novae Syndicate No. 2007 (NVA)	A	**
SCOR Switzerland AG	A-	
Seek Swizeriana 110	71	
HEDGE FUNDS / COLLATERALIZED		
Actua Re Limited	NR *	(1)
Allianz Risk Transfer AG (Bermuda Branch)	NR-5 *	(2)

- \* 2009 Reinstatement Premium Protection Program Participants
- \*\* Admitted in Florida as a reinsurer, whether through licensing, accreditation or other means.
- (Blank) Non admitted reinsurer in Florida.
- (1) Participant has funded a trust agreement for their participation with approximately \$6.4 million of cash and U.S. Government obligations of American institutions at fair market value.
- (2) Standard & Poor's rated "AA" (Obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is very strong)

As a result of the January 2011 merger of Federated National into American Vehicle we are better capitalized and anticipate more favorable terms in connection with our upcoming reinsurance structure.

American Vehicle and Federated National entered into an 80% quota share treaty with Scor Reinsurance Company effective May 1, 2010 for all private passenger automobile policies in effect on May 1, 2010. This treaty included a ceding of unearned premium to the reinsurers. Our insurance companies will retain 20% of the policy risk for the term of the quota share agreement.

American Vehicle became an admitted insurer in the state of Georgia during the quarter ended September 30, 2010. As part of the ramp-up of our business in Georgia, we entered into an arrangement to write non-standard private passenger automobile insurance through a reputable managing general agent familiar with the Georgia market. A quota share treaty will cede 100% of the risk and be fully collateralized for unearned premium and unpaid loss and LAE.

- 14 -

#### **Table of Contents**

## 21st Century Holding Company

Pursuant to commutation provisions contained in the original 2004 FHCF agreement, on August 10, 2010 Federated National and the FHCF negotiated such a commutation agreement for the 2004 contract year. The terms of the agreement provide that Federated National release the FHCF from all its obligations under the original reinsurance agreement for a negotiated consideration as a final payment for all unpaid claims subject to the treaty. This negotiation resulted in a final commutation payment received by us for a total of \$0.75 million, which the Company believes is adequate to pay loss and LAE including incurred but not yet reported ("IBNR") for the subject losses. The benefit of the FHCF treaty inures to the benefit of the private reinsurers participating in the treaty. Should our estimations for unpaid loss and LAE exceed our commutation with the FHCF and ultimately prove inadequate, our coverage in the private market will continue to indemnify us. We do not expect the private market coverage to be exhausted. Additionally, this commutation agreement did not have an effect on operational net income.

As a direct premium writer in the state of Florida, we are required to participate in certain insurer solvency associations under Florida Statutes Section 631.57(3) (a), administered by FIGA. Participation in these pools is based on our written premium by line of business to total premiums written statewide by all insurers. Participation has resulted in assessments against us, as it had in 2006 and 2007, and again on October 30, 2009. There were no assessments made during the years ended December 31, 2008 or 2010. Through 2007, we were assessed \$6.6 million and in 2009 we were assessed an additional \$0.6 million in connection with the insolvencies of domestic insurance companies. For statutory accounting these assessments are not charged to operations, in contrast, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP") treatment is to charge current operations for the assessments. Through policyholder surcharges, as approved by the Florida OIR, we have since recouped \$7.1 million in connection with these assessments.

The State Board of Administration ("SBA") and the FHCF Financing Corporation agreed to a resolution that would authorize the issuance and sale of FHCF post-event revenue bonds not to exceed \$710 million. The proceeds of the bonds would be used for the reimbursement of insurance companies for additional claims due to hurricanes during the 2005 season. These bonds will have fixed interest rates, be exempt from federal income taxes and be secured by not yet implemented emergency assessments and reimbursement premiums. The inability to issue these bonds could result in the FHCF's need to accelerate additional assessments. We have not recorded any liability in connection with this initiative.

The FHCF reimbursement contract and addendums are all effective June 1, 2010, and the private excess of loss type treaties are all effective July 1, 2010; all treaties have a term of one year. Our reinsurance treaty with the FHCF has a significant credit risk, including the fact that the FHCF may not be able to raise sufficient money to pay their claims or impair their ability to pay their claims in a timely manner. This could result in significant financial, legal and operational challenges to all companies, including ours. Additionally, the FHCF treaty contains an exclusion for "Losses in excess of the sum of the Balance of the Fund as of December 31 of the Contract Year and the amount the SBA is able to raise through the issuance of revenue bonds or by the use of other financing mechanisms, up to the limit pursuant to Section 215.555(4) (c), Florida Statutes." This credit risk is mitigated by a fund cash buildup due to the absence of covered events in recent years.

To date, there have been no claims asserted against the reinsurers in connection with the 2010–2011 and 2009–2010 excess of loss and FHCF treaties.

As regards to the commercial multi-peril property program that began recording premium on August 28, 2009, we have secured an automatic facultative reinsurance agreement with Munich Reinsurance America, Inc. and Ascot Underwriting Limited for bound risks with total insured values not to exceed \$10.0 million, with additional coverage in excess of \$10.0 million available upon submission and subjected to underwriting guidelines. This coverage

excludes catastrophic wind-storm risk. A.M. Best ratings for Munich Re and Ascot are A+ and A, respectively.

During 2009, the Company secured casualty reinsurance affording coverage totaling \$4.0 million in excess of \$1.0 million. This reinsurance also protects the Company against extra contractual obligations and losses in excess of policy limits. Any loss occurrence that involves liability exposure written by either Federated National or American Vehicle or a combination of both will be covered. The cost of this coverage totaled approximately \$0.4 million.

In order to expand our commercial business, American Vehicle entered into various quota share reinsurance agreements whereby American Vehicle is the assuming reinsurer. On March 26, 2009, we announced that American Vehicle received approval from the Florida OIR to enter into a reinsurance relationship allowing the opportunity to market and underwrite commercial insurance through a company that has an "A" rating with A.M. Best. This agreement is designed to enable the deployment of commercial general liability and other commercial insurance products in most of the contiguous 48 states to policyholders who require their commercial insurance policy to come from an insurance company with an A- or better A.M. Best rating. Operations began during the quarter ended June 30, 2009. During 2011, the companies mutually agreed to suspend this treaty effective May 15, 2011.

- 15 -

#### **Table of Contents**

## 21st Century Holding Company

The quota share retrocessionaire reinsurance agreements require American Vehicle to securitize credit, regulatory and business risk. As of December 31, 2010, irrevocable letters of credit fully collateralized by American Vehicle and further guaranteed by the parent company, 21st Century, were replaced by fully funded trust agreements. Fully funded trust agreements and outstanding irrevocable letters of credit totaled \$4.6 million and \$3.1 million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

We are selective in choosing reinsurers and consider numerous factors, the most important of which are the financial stability of the reinsurer, their history of responding to claims and their overall reputation. In an effort to minimize our exposure to the insolvency of a reinsurer, we evaluate the acceptability and review the financial condition of the reinsurer at least annually.

#### LIABILITY FOR UNPAID LOSSES AND LAE

We are directly liable for loss and LAE payments under the terms of the insurance policies that we write. In many cases, there may be a time lag between the occurrence and reporting of an insured loss and our payment of that loss. As required by insurance regulations and accounting rules, we reflect the liability for the ultimate payment of all incurred losses and LAE by establishing a liability for those unpaid losses and LAE for both reported and unreported claims, which represent estimates of future amounts needed to pay claims and related expenses.

When a claim, other than personal automobile, involving a probable loss is reported, we establish a liability for the estimated amount of our ultimate losses and LAE payments. The estimate of the amount of the ultimate loss is based upon such factors as the type of loss, jurisdiction of the occurrence, knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the claim, severity of injury or damage, potential for ultimate exposure, estimate of liability on the part of the insured, past experience with similar claims and the applicable policy provisions.

All newly reported claims received with respect to personal automobile policies are set up with an initial average liability. The average liability for these claims is determined by dividing the number of reported claims into the total amount paid during the same period. If a claim is open more than 45 days, that open case liability is evaluated and the liability is adjusted upward or downward according to the facts and circumstances of that particular claim.

In addition, management provides for a liability on an aggregate basis to provide for IBNR. We utilize independent actuaries to help establish liability for unpaid losses and LAE. We do not discount the liability for unpaid losses and LAE for financial statement purposes.

The estimates of the liability for unpaid losses and LAE are subject to the effect of trends in claims severity and frequency and are continually reviewed. As part of this process, we review historical data and consider various factors, including known and anticipated legal developments, inflation and economic conditions. As experience develops and other data become available, these estimates are revised, as required, resulting in increases or decreases to the existing liability for unpaid losses and LAE. Adjustments are reflected in results of operations in the period in which they are made and the liabilities may deviate substantially from prior estimates.

Among our classes of insurance, the automobile and homeowners' liability claims historically tend to have longer time lapses between the occurrence of the event, the reporting of the claim and the final settlement, than do automobile physical damage and homeowners' property claims. These liability claims often involve parties filing suit and therefore may result in litigation. By comparison, property damage claims tend to be reported in a relatively shorter period of time and settled in a shorter time frame with less occurrence of litigation.

There can be no assurance that our liability for unpaid losses and LAE will be adequate to cover actual losses. If our liability for unpaid losses and LAE proves to be inadequate, we will be required to increase the liability with a corresponding reduction in our net income in the period in which the deficiency is identified. Future loss experience substantially in excess of established liability for unpaid losses and LAE could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

- 16 -

#### **Table of Contents**

## 21st Century Holding Company

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of beginning and ending liability for unpaid losses and LAE as shown in our consolidated financial statements for the periods indicated.

		Years Ended December 31,					
		2010			2009		2008
			(Do	llars	in Thousa	nds)	
	4	<b>=</b> 0.640		٨	c	Φ.	<b>#</b> 0.60#
Balance at January 1	\$	70,610		\$	64,775	\$	59,685
Less reinsurance recoverables		(11,594	)		(12,713)		(20,134)
Net balance at January 1	\$	59,016		\$	52,062	\$	39,551
Incurred related to							
Current year	\$	37,288		\$	41,988	\$	37,398
Prior years		2,800			1,718		4,471
Total incurred	\$	40,088		\$	43,706	\$	41,869
Paid related to							
Current year	\$	15,077		\$	18,478	\$	13,277
Prior years		24,308			18,274		16,080
Total paid	\$	39,385		\$	36,752	\$	29,357
•							
Net balance at year-end	\$	59,719		\$	59,016	\$	52,062
Plus reinsurance recoverables		6,810			11,595		12,713
Balance at year-end	\$	66,529		\$	70,611	\$	64,775

As shown above, and as a result of review of liability for losses and LAE, which includes a re-evaluation of the adequacy of reserve levels for prior year's claims, we increased the liability for losses and LAE for claims occurring in prior years by \$2.8 million, \$1.7 million and \$4.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

In 2010, we increased incurred losses and LAE for claims in connection with the hurricanes in 2005 and 2004 by approximately \$1.6 million and increased the incurred loss and LAE attributed to incurred events of prior years in connection with our homeowners', automobile and commercial general liability lines of business by \$1.2 million.

In 2009, we increased incurred losses and LAE for claims in connection with the hurricanes in 2005 and 2004 by approximately \$2.0 million and decreased the incurred loss and LAE attributed to incurred events of prior years in connection with our automobile and commercial general liability lines of business by \$0.3 million.

There can be no assurance concerning future adjustments of reserves, positive or negative, for claims incurred through December 31, 2010.

Based upon discussions with our independent actuarial consultants and their statements of opinion on losses and LAE, we believe that the liability for unpaid losses and LAE is currently adequate to cover all claims and related expenses which may arise from incidents reported and IBNR as of December 31, 2010.

The following table presents total unpaid losses and LAE, net, and total reinsurance recoverable, on a run-off basis, due from our automobile reinsurers as shown in our consolidated financial statements for the periods indicated.

	As of December 31,						
	2010	2009					
	(Dolla	(Dollars in Thousands)					
Transatlantic Reinsurance Company (A+ A.M. Best rated)							
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and LAE	\$ 1	\$ -					
Unpaid losses and LAE	38	72					
	\$ 39	\$ 72					

- 17 -

# **Table of Contents**

# 21st Century Holding Company

In addition to reinsurance due from our automobile reinsurers, we also have reinsurance due from our catastrophic reinsurance companies. These reinsurance recoverables relate to Hurricane Katrina and Hurricane Wilma from 2005 and to the four hurricanes that occurred in August and September of 2004. The following table presents total unpaid losses and LAE, net, and total reinsurance recoverable due from our catastrophic reinsurers as shown in our consolidated financial statements.

	As of December 31,							
		2010		2009				
Catastrophe Excess of Loss (various participants) and FHCF	FHCF (Dollars in Thousands)							
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and LAE	\$	1,542	\$	3,669				
Unpaid losses and LAE		5,514		11,666				
	\$	7,056	\$	15,335				
Amounts due from reinsurers consisted of amounts related to:								
Unpaid losses and LAE	\$	5,514	\$	11,666				
Reinsurance recoverable on paid LAE		1,542		3,669				
Reinsurance payable		(14,088)		(16,468)				
	\$	(7,032)	\$	(1,133)				

- 18 -

#### **Table of Contents**

# 21st Century Holding Company

The following table presents the liability for unpaid losses and LAE for the years ended December 31, 2001 through 2010 and does not distinguish between catastrophic and non-catastrophic events. The top line of the table shows the estimated net liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE at the balance sheet date for each of the periods indicated. These figures represent the estimated amount of unpaid losses and LAE for claims arising in all prior years that were unpaid at the balance sheet date, including losses that had been IBNR. The portion of the table labeled "Cumulative paid as of" shows the net cumulative payments for losses and LAE made in succeeding years for losses incurred prior to the balance sheet date. The lower portion of the table shows the re-estimated amount of the previously recorded liability based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year.

Years Ended December 31,

		(Dollars in Thousands)												
	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001				
Balance Sheet Liability	\$59,655	\$59,016	\$52,070	\$39,551	\$27,259	\$25,733	\$37,390	\$15,314	\$9,422	\$6,20				
Cumulative paid as of:														
One year later		22,910	17,264	17,019	19,347	25,238	35,433	10,908	8,629	5,28				
Two years later			29,985	25,692	27,740	33,863	48,406	12,938	10,417	7,21				
Three years later				35,185	33,324	39,529	53,760	13,921	11,083	7,70				
Four years later					40,570	49,340	57,794	14,644	11,994	7,94				
Five years later						49,129	60,197	14,964	12,355	8,16				
Six years later							62,808	16,234	12,523	8,29				
Seven years later								16,616	13,732	8,99				
Eight years later									13,842	9,00				
Nine years later										8,99				
Re-estimated net liability as of:														
End of year	59,655	59,016 61,572	52,070 52,769	39,551 44,402	27,259 35,370	25,733 35,625	37,390 44,690	15,314 14,594	9,422 11,014	6,20 6,95				

Edgar Filing: 21ST CENTURY HOLDING CO - Form 10-K

One year later																	
Two years																	
later				57,797		47,713	l	38,962	,	41,280	52,324	l	14,78	1	10,885		7,84
Three years				31,171		77,713	•	30,702	•	71,200	32,327	7	14,70	T	10,003		7,0-
later						53,050	)	45,552	2	45,131	56,658	3	15,402	2	11,236		8,06
Four years						·		,		·	·						
later								51,022	2	51,278	59,583	3	16,320	0	12,116		8,31
Five years																	
later										55,596	64,244	Ļ	16,30	4	12,365		8,54
Six years																	
later											65,800	)	18,509	9	12,410		8,62
Seven years																	
later													19,28	5	14,610		8,45
Eight years																	
later															16,890		8,43
Nine years																	
later																	8,44
Cumulative																	
redundancy																	
(deficiency)				<b>47.505</b>	`	(10.10	0.	(22.76	<b>.</b> \	(20.052)	(20.44	<b>0</b> \	(2.0=4		<b>(=</b> 460	`	<b>/2.2</b>
	(	2,555	)	(5,727	)	(13,49)	8)	(23,76	3)	(29,863)	(28,41)	0)	(3,971	l )	(7,468	)	(2,2)
Cumulative																	
redundancy																	
(-)																	
deficiency as																	
a % of																	
reserves																	
originally		4.2	01	11.0	O7	24.1	07	07.2	07	1160 %	76.0	O.	25.0	07	70.2	01	26
established		4.3	%	-11.0	%	-34.1	%	-87.2	%	-116.0 %	-/6.0	%	-25.9	%	-79.3	%	-36.

The cumulative redundancy or deficiency represents the aggregate change in the estimates over all prior years. A deficiency indicates that the latest estimate of the liability for losses and LAE is higher than the liability that was originally estimated and a redundancy indicates that such estimate is lower. It should be emphasized that the table presents a run-off of balance sheet liability for the periods indicated rather than accident or policy loss development for those periods. Therefore, each amount in the table includes the cumulative effects of changes in liability for all prior periods. Conditions and trends that have affected liabilities in the past may not necessarily occur in the future.

- 19 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

As noted above, we have since experienced a \$2.6 million cumulative deficiency in connection with the re-estimation of all loss that occurred in 2009 and a \$5.7 million cumulative deficiency in connection with the re-estimation of all loss that occurred in 2008. Relative to the \$2.6 million deficiency, homeowner and commercial general liability losses totaled \$1.9 million and \$0.7 million, respectively. Relative to the \$5.7 million deficiency, our homeowner losses totaled \$0.3 million, our automobile losses totaled \$1.9 million and our commercial general liability losses totaled \$3.5 million.

As noted in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, we experienced a \$0.7 million cumulative deficiency in connection with the re-estimation of all loss that occurred in 2008 and a \$8.2 million cumulative deficiency in connection with the re-estimation of all loss that occurred in 2007. Relative to the \$0.7 million deficiency, our automobile and commercial general liability losses totaled \$1.9 million and \$0.1 million, respectively, and our homeowner benefit totaled \$1.3 million. Relative to the \$8.2 million deficiency, our homeowner and commercial general liability losses totaled \$5.0 million and \$6.4 million, respectively, and our automobile benefit totaled \$3.4 million.

As noted in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, we experienced a \$4.9 million cumulative deficiency in connection with the re-estimation of all loss that occurred in 2007 and a \$13.5 million cumulative deficiency in connection with the re-estimation of all loss that occurred in 2006. Relative to the \$4.9 million deficiency, our homeowner and commercial general liability losses totaled \$1.1 million and \$4.4 million, respectively, and our automobile benefit totaled \$0.7 million. Relative to the \$13.5 million deficiency, our homeowner and commercial general liability and automobile losses totaled \$5.5 million, \$6.6 million and \$1.4 million, respectively.

The table below sets forth the differences between loss and LAE reserves as disclosed for GAAP basis compared with Statutory Accounting Principles ("SAP") basis of presentation for the years ended 2010, 2009 and 2008.

	Years Ended December 31,						
	2010	0 2009			2008		
	(Dollars in Thousands)						
GAAP basis Loss and LAE reserves	\$ 66,529	\$	70,611	\$	64,775		
Less unpaid Losses and LAE ceded	6,810		11,593		12,705		
Balance Sheet Liability	59,719		59,018		52,070		
Add Insurance Apportionment Plan	14		12		24		
SAP basis Loss and LAE reserves	\$ 59,733	\$	59,030	\$	52,094		

The table below sets forth the differences between loss and LAE incurred as disclosed for GAAP basis compared with SAP basis presentation for the years ended 2010, 2009 and 2008.

	2010		led Decen 2009 in Thous		ĺ	2008
GAAP basis Loss and LAE incurred	\$ 40,088		\$ 43,706		\$	41,868
Intercompany adjusting and other expenses	8		4,239			4,313
Insurance apportionment plan	(2	)	(7	)		4
SAP basis Loss and LAE incurred	\$ 40,094		\$ 47,938		\$	46,185

Underwriting results of insurance companies are frequently measured by their Combined Ratios. However, investment income, federal income taxes and other non-underwriting income or expense are not reflected in the Combined Ratio. The profitability of property and casualty insurance companies depends on income from underwriting, investment and service operations. Underwriting results are considered profitable when the Combined Ratio is under 100% and unprofitable when the Combined Ratio is over 100%.

- 20 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

The following table sets forth Loss Ratios, Expense Ratios and Combined Ratios for the periods indicated for the insurance business of Federated National and American Vehicle for 2010, 2009 and 2008, and are inclusive of Unallocated Loss Adjustment Expenses ("ULAE").

		Years Ended December 31,					
	2010		2009	2008			
Loss Ratio	89.0	%	91.1	% 64.3	%		
Expense Ratio	46.7	%	44.0	% 38.2	%		
Combined Ratio	135.7	%	135.1	% 102.5	5 %		

#### **COMPETITION**

We operate in highly competitive markets and face competition from national, regional and residual market insurance companies in the homeowners', commercial residential property, commercial general liability, and automobile markets, many of whom are larger, have greater financial and other resources, and offer more diversified insurance coverage. Our competitors include companies that market their products through agents, as well as companies that sell insurance directly to their customers. Large national writers may have certain competitive advantages over agency writers, including increased name recognition, increased loyalty of their customer base and reduced policy acquisition costs.

Significant competition also emerged because of fundamental changes in 2007 made to the property and casualty insurance business in Florida, which resulted in a multi-pronged approach to address the cost of residential property insurance in Florida. First, the law increased the capacity of reinsurance that stabilized the reinsurance market to the benefit of the insurance companies writing properties lines in Florida. Secondly, the law provided for rate relief to all policyholders. The law also authorized the state-owned insurance company, Citizens, which is free of many of the restraints on private carriers such as surplus, ratios, income taxes and reinsurance expense, to reduce its premium rates and begin competing against private insurers in the residential property insurance market and expands the authority of Citizens to write commercial insurance. We believe that these aggressive marketplace changes in 2007 forced some carriers to pursue market share based on "best case" pricing models that may ultimately prove unprofitable from an underwriting perspective.

For example, during 2009 we noted that the Florida OIR placed at least four property and casualty insurance companies in some form of receivership while several other Florida domiciled insurance companies have recapitalized in order to remain viable in the Florida market. The insolvency of these companies poses a risk to all other remaining carriers in the state including Federated National and American Vehicle in terms of assessments to support those failed companies. Through December 31, 2010, we are not aware of any such assessments in connection with the takeovers during 2009; however, no guarantee can be made that no assessments will be imposed.

In recent years, approximately two-dozen new homeowner insurance companies received authority by the Florida OIR to commence business as admitted carriers in the state.

In 2006, the state of Florida created the Insurance Capital Build-Up Incentive Program in response to the catastrophic events that occurred during 2004 and 2005. This program provided matching capital funds to any new or existing carrier licensed to write homeowners' insurance in the state of Florida under certain conditions. This program resulted in a significant erosion of our homeowners' insurance market since 2007. We did not participate in the Insurance Capital Build-Up Incentive Program. Although our pricing is inevitably influenced to some degree by that of our competitors, we believe that it is generally not in our shareholders' best interest to compete solely on price.

We face increased competition from existing carriers and new entrants in our niche markets. As mentioned earlier, in an effort to foster competition after the hurricanes of 2004 and 2005, the State of Florida loaned money to multiple carriers with certain debt covenants, including the maintenance of minimum written premium. Our competition has attempted to gain market share through aggressive pricing and generous policy acquisition costs, which has had an adverse affect on our ability to maintain market share. Although our pricing is inevitably influenced to some degree by that of our competitors, we believe that it is generally not in our best interest to compete solely on price. We compete based on underwriting criteria, our distribution network and superior service to our agents and insureds.

In Florida, more than 200 companies are authorized to underwrite homeowners' insurance. National and regional companies that compete with us in the homeowners' market include Castle Key (formerly Allstate Floridian) Indemnity Insurance Company and Fidelity National Insurance Company. In addition to these nationally recognized companies, we also compete with several Florida domestic property and casualty companies such as, but not limited to, Universal Property and Casualty Insurance Company, Royal Palm Insurance Company, St. Johns Insurance Company, Cypress Property and Casualty Insurance Company, and American Strategic Insurance Company.

- 21 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Companies, which compete with us nationally in the commercial general liability insurance market, include Century Surety Insurance Company, Atlantic Casualty Insurance Company, Colony Insurance Company and Burlington/First Financial Insurance Companies.

Comparable companies in the personal automobile insurance market include Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company, United Automobile Insurance Company, Direct General Insurance Company, and Ocean Harbor Insurance Company, as well as national insurers such as Progressive Casualty Insurance Company and GEICO.

#### REGULATION

#### General

We are, or will be, subject to the laws and regulations in Alabama, Arkansas, California, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi Missouri, New York, Nevada, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas and Virginia and regulations of any other states in which we seek to conduct business in the future. The regulations cover all aspects of our business and are generally designed to protect the interests of insurance policyholders, as opposed to the interests of shareholders. Such regulations relate to authorized lines of business, capital and surplus requirements, allowable rates and forms, investment parameters, underwriting limitations, transactions with affiliates, dividend limitations, changes in control, market conduct, maximum amount allowable for premium financing service charges and a variety of other financial and non-financial components of our business. Our failure to comply with certain provisions of applicable insurance laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition, any changes in such laws and regulations, including the adoption of consumer initiatives regarding rates charged for coverage, could materially and adversely affect our operations or our ability to expand. In January 2011, we entered into a Consent Order with the Florida OIR in connection with the approval of the merger of Federated National into American Vehicle. See "Recent Developments – Consent Order".

An example of such consumer initiatives may be found with Florida's property insurers operating under a new emergency rule which requires existing premium rates as of January 25, 2007, to remain in effect until a rate filing reflecting the provisions as provided in Florida's enacted property insurance legislation. The legislation, which among other issues, provided low cost reinsurance to member insurance companies, accelerated rate filings to reflect the reduced reinsurance costs and expanded the role of Citizens in the market place. Other provisions contained in the emergency rule prevented non-renewals and cancellation (except for material misrepresentation and non-payment of premium) and new restrictions on coverage are prohibited. We are aware of the continued financial challenges that face the State of Florida in connection with the current consumer initiatives. The consumer initiatives stem from the catastrophic hurricanes during 2004 and 2005. The financial challenges have affected our business, results of operations and financial condition in the past and there can be no assurance that they will not continue to affect business, results of operations and financial condition in the future. We are unaware of any other jurisdictions with similar consumer initiatives that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Most states have also enacted laws which restrict an insurer's underwriting discretion, such as the ability to terminate policies, terminate agents or reject insurance coverage applications, and many state regulators have the power to reduce, or to disallow increases, in premium rates. These laws may adversely affect the ability of an insurer to earn a profit on its underwriting operations.

Most states also have insurance laws requiring that rate schedules and other information be filed with the state's insurance regulatory authority, either directly or through a rating organization with which the insurer is affiliated. The regulatory authority may disapprove a rate filing if it finds that the rates are inadequate, excessive or unfairly discriminatory. Rates, which are not necessarily uniform for all insurers, vary by class of business, hazard covered, and size of risk. Certain states have recently adopted laws or are considering proposed legislation which, among other things, limit the ability of insurance companies to effect rate increases or to cancel, reduce or non-renew insurance coverage with respect to existing policies, particularly personal automobile insurance. As discussed above, the consumer initiatives with Florida's property insurers demonstrate the State of Florida's ability to adopt such laws. Also, the Florida legislature may adopt additional laws of this type in the future, which may adversely affect the Company's business.

Most states require licensure or regulatory approval prior to the marketing of new insurance products. Typically, licensure review is comprehensive and includes a review of a company's business plan, solvency, reinsurance, character of its officers and directors, rates, forms and other financial and non-financial aspects of a company. The regulatory authorities may prohibit entry into a new market by not granting a license or by withholding approval.

- 22 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

All insurance companies must file quarterly and annual statements with certain regulatory agencies and are subject to regular and special examinations by those agencies. We may be the subject of additional special examinations or analysis. These examinations or analysis may result in one or more corrective orders being issued by the Florida OIR.

Most recently the Florida OIR subjected Federated National to a balance sheet audit as of December 31, 2009. There were no material findings by the independent auditors in connection with this examination. Federated National also experienced a regularly scheduled statutory examination by the Florida OIR which occurred during 2010 for the five years ended December 31, 2009. There were no material findings in connection with this examination. The previous regulatory examination conducted by the Florida OIR on Federated National covered the three-year period ended on December 31, 2004.

American Vehicle anticipates a regularly scheduled statutory examination by the Florida OIR to occur during 2011 for the five years ended December 31, 2010. The last regulatory examination conducted by the Florida OIR on American Vehicle covered the three-year period ended on December 31, 2005.

In some instances, various states routinely require deposits of assets for the protection of policyholders either in those states or for all policyholders. As an example, the Florida OIR requires Federated National and American Vehicle to have securities with a fair market value of \$1.0 million held in escrow. As of December 31, 2010, Federated National and American Vehicle held investment securities with a fair value of approximately \$1.1 million, each as deposits with the State of Florida. Additionally, as of December 31, 2010 American Vehicle had cash deposits totaling \$416,400 with the State of Alabama, \$160,300 with the State of Arkansas, \$118,283 with the State of Louisiana and \$25,000 with the State of Georgia.

As of December 31, 2009, Federated National and American Vehicle held investment securities with a fair value of approximately \$1.1 million, each as deposits with the State of Florida. Additionally, as of December 31, 2009 American Vehicle had cash deposits totaling \$409,100 with the State of Alabama, \$159,800 with the State of Arkansas and \$119,300 with the State of Louisiana.

Restrictions in Payments of Dividends by Domestic Insurance Companies

Under Florida law, a domestic insurer may not pay any dividend or distribute cash or other property to its shareholders except out of that part of its available and accumulated capital surplus funds which is derived from realized net operating profits on its business and net realized capital gains. A Florida domestic insurer may not make dividend payments or distributions to shareholders without prior approval of the Florida OIR if the dividend or distribution would exceed the larger of (i) the lesser of (a) 10.0% of its capital surplus or (b) net income, not including realized capital gains, plus a two-year carryforward, (ii) 10.0% of capital surplus with dividends payable constrained to unassigned funds minus 25% of unrealized capital gains or (iii) the lesser of (a) 10.0% of capital surplus or (b) net investment income plus a three-year carryforward with dividends payable constrained to unassigned funds minus 25.0% of unrealized capital gains.

Alternatively, a Florida domestic insurer may pay a dividend or distribution without the prior written approval of the Florida OIR (i) if the dividend is equal to or less than the greater of (a) 10.0% of the insurer's capital surplus as regards policyholders derived from realized net operating profits on its business and net realized capital gains or (b) the insurer's entire net operating profits and realized net capital gains derived during the immediately preceding calendar year, (ii) the insurer will have policy holder capital surplus equal to or exceeding 115.0% of the minimum required statutory capital surplus after the dividend or distribution, (iii) the insurer files a notice of the dividend or distribution with the Florida OIR at least ten business days prior to the dividend payment or distribution and (iv) the notice

includes a certification by an officer of the insurer attesting that, after the payment of the dividend or distribution, the insurer will have at least 115% of required statutory capital surplus as to policyholders. Except as provided above, a Florida domiciled insurer may only pay a dividend or make a distribution (i) subject to prior approval by the Florida OIR or (ii) 30 days after the Florida OIR has received notice of such dividend or distribution and has not disapproved it within such time.

No dividends were paid by Federated National or American Vehicle in 2010, 2009 or 2008, and none are anticipated in 2011 as a result of our Consent Order with the Florida OIR. Although we believe that amounts required to meet our financial and operating obligations will be available from sources other than dividends from our insurance subsidiaries, there can be no assurance in this regard. Further, there can be no assurance that, if requested, the Florida OIR will allow any dividends to be paid by Federated National and American Vehicle to us, the parent company, in the future. The maximum dividends permitted by state law are not necessarily indicative of an insurer's actual ability to pay dividends or other distributions to a parent company, which also may be constrained by business and regulatory considerations, such as the impact of dividends on capital surplus, which could affect an insurer's competitive position, the amount of premiums that can be written and the ability to pay future dividends. Further, state insurance laws and regulations require that the statutory capital surplus of an insurance company following any dividend or distribution by it be reasonable in relation to its outstanding liabilities and adequate for its financial needs.

- 23 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

While the non-insurance company subsidiaries (Assurance MGA, Superior and any other affiliate) are not subject directly to the dividend and other distribution limitations, insurance holding company regulations govern the amount that any affiliate within the holding company system may charge any of the insurance companies for service (e.g., management fees and commissions).

National Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC") Risk-Based Capital Requirements

In order to enhance the regulation of insurer solvency, the NAIC established risk-based capital requirements for insurance companies that are designed to assess capital adequacy and to raise the level of protection that statutory surplus provides for policy holders. These requirements measure three major areas of risk facing property and casualty insurers: (i) underwriting risks, which encompass the risk of adverse loss developments and inadequate pricing; (ii) declines in asset values arising from credit risk; and (iii) other business risks from investments. Insurers having less statutory surplus than required will be subject to varying degrees of regulatory action, depending on the level of capital inadequacy. The Florida OIR, which follows these requirements, could require Federated National or American Vehicle to cease operations in the event they fail to maintain the required statutory capital.

Based upon the 2010 statutory financial statements for Federated National and American Vehicle, statutory surplus exceeded the regulatory action levels established by the NAIC's risk-based capital requirements.

Based upon the 2009 statutory financial statements for Federated National and American Vehicle, statutory surplus exceeded the regulatory action levels established by the NAIC's risk-based capital requirements.

Based on risk-based capital requirements, the extent of regulatory intervention and action increases as the ratio of an insurer's statutory surplus to its Authorized Control Level ("ACL"), as calculated under the NAIC's requirements, decreases. The first action level, the Company Action Level, requires an insurer to submit a plan of corrective actions to the insurance regulators if statutory surplus falls below 200.0% of the ACL amount. The second action level, the Regulatory Action Level, requires an insurer to submit a plan containing corrective actions and permits the insurance regulators to perform an examination or other analysis and issue a corrective order if statutory surplus falls below 150.0% of the ACL amount. The third action level, ACL, allows the regulators to rehabilitate or liquidate an insurer in addition to the aforementioned actions if statutory surplus falls below the ACL amount. The fourth action level is the Mandatory Control Level, which requires the regulators to rehabilitate or liquidate the insurer if statutory surplus falls below 70.0% of the ACL amount. Federated National's ratio of statutory surplus to its ACL was 222.8%, 245.1 % and 739.4% at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. American Vehicle's ratio of statutory surplus to its ACL was 373.4%, 426.9% and 402.5% at December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

NAIC Insurance Regulatory Information Systems ("IRIS") Ratios

The NAIC has also developed IRIS ratios to assist state insurance departments in identifying companies which may be developing performance or solvency problems, as signaled by significant changes in the companies' operations. Such changes may not necessarily result from any problems with an insurance company, but may merely indicate changes in certain ratios outside the ranges defined as normal by the NAIC. When an insurance company has four or more ratios falling outside "usual ranges", state regulators may investigate to determine the reasons for the variance and whether corrective action is warranted.

As of December 31, 2010, Federated National was outside NAIC's usual range for four of thirteen IRIS ratios. These exceptions related to two-years overall operating ratio, investment yield, gross change in policyholders' surplus and change in adjusted policyholders' surplus. The Florida OIR recently approved additional rate increase for our voluntary

property book of homeowners' business, averaging 20.2% statewide, which is expected to gain momentum and accrete throughout 2011. As of December 31, 2009, Federated National was outside NAIC's usual range for four of thirteen IRIS ratios. Three exceptions related to underwriting operations and one related to lower than expected investment yields. The operations ratios relate to the timing of premium rate corrections and elevated reinsurance costs. The Florida OIR granted Federated National an average statewide increase of 19.0% for policies that went into effect November 1, 2009 and December 1, 2009 for new and renewed homeowner insurance policies, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, Federated National was outside NAIC's usual ranges with respect to its tests on two out of thirteen IRIS ratios. There was one exception in connection with change in net written premium and one in connection with two year reserve development to policyholders' surplus.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

As of December 31, 2010, American Vehicle was outside NAIC's usual range for four of thirteen IRIS ratios. These exceptions related to two-years overall operating ratio, investment yield, gross change in policyholders' surplus and change in adjusted policyholders' surplus. As of December 31, 2009, American Vehicle was outside NAIC's usual range for three of thirteen IRIS ratios. These ratios reflect the decline in premium volume and operating results. The third ratio related to lower than expected investment yields. As of December 31, 2008, American Vehicle was outside NAIC's usual range for two of thirteen IRIS ratios. There was one exception in connection with the two year overall operating ratio and one in connection with two year reserve development to policyholders' surplus.

There was no action taken by the Florida OIR in connection with the December 31, 2009 IRIS ratio results. We do not currently believe that the Florida OIR will take any significant action with respect to Federated National or American Vehicle regarding the 2010 IRIS ratios, although there can be no assurance that will be the case.

### **Insurance Holding Company Regulation**

We, the parent company, are subject to laws governing insurance holding companies in Florida where Federated National and American Vehicle are domiciled. These laws, among other things, (i) require us to file periodic information with the Florida OIR, including information concerning our capital structure, ownership, financial condition and general business operations, (ii) regulate certain transactions between us and our affiliates, including the amount of dividends and other distributions, the terms of surplus notes and amounts that our affiliates can charge the holding company for services such as management fees or commissions, (iii) restrict the ability of any one person to acquire certain levels of our voting securities without prior regulatory approval. Any purchaser of 5% or more of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock will be presumed to have acquired control of Federated National and American Vehicle unless the Florida OIR, upon application, determines otherwise.

### Finance Company Regulation

Our financing program remains subject to certain laws governing the operation of premium finance companies. These laws pertain to such matters as books and records that must be kept, forms, licensing, fees and charges. For example, in Florida, the maximum late payment fee Federated Premium may charge for personal line policies is \$10 per payment.

# **Underwriting and Marketing Restrictions**

During the past several years, various regulatory and legislative bodies have adopted or proposed new laws or regulations to address the cyclical nature of the insurance industry, catastrophic events and insurance capacity and pricing. These regulations include (i) the creation of "market assistance plans" under which insurers are induced to provide certain coverages, (ii) restrictions on the ability of insurers to rescind or otherwise cancel certain policies in mid-term, (iii) advance notice requirements or limitations imposed for certain policy non-renewals and (iv) limitations upon or decreases in rates permitted to be charged.

#### Legislation

From time to time, new regulations and legislation are proposed to limit damage awards, to control plaintiffs' counsel fees, to bring the industry under regulation by the Federal government, to control premiums, policy terminations and other policy terms and to impose new taxes and assessments. It is not possible to predict whether, in what form or in what jurisdictions, any of these proposals might be adopted, or the effect, if any, on us.

Florida House Insurance and Banking Subcommittee sponsors of House Bill 803 and House Bill 1243 have been advised that House Leadership is now more inclined to pass a scaled-back omnibus property insurance reform package than what was previously proposed in last year's Senate Bill 2044 which was ultimately vetoed by the former governor of Florida.

A scaled-back omnibus property insurance reform package is expected to contain provisions such as increased capital and surplus, public adjuster reforms, a three-year claim filing deadline and actual cash value versus replacement cost value for dwelling reform. Additionally, we expect Florida legislators to offer changes to sinkhole coverage provisions.

### **Industry Ratings Services**

Third-party rating agencies assess and rate the ability of insurers to pay their claims. These financial strength ratings are used by the insurance industry to assess the financial strength and quality of insurers. These ratings are based on criteria established by the rating agencies and reflect evaluations of each insurer's profitability, debt and cash levels, customer base, adequacy and soundness of reinsurance, quality and estimated market value of assets, adequacy of reserves, and management. Ratings are based upon factors of concern to agents, reinsurers and policyholders and are not directed toward the protection of investors, such as purchasers of our common stock.

- 25 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

As of December 31, 2010, Federated National and American Vehicle were rated by Demotech as "A" ("Exceptional"), which is the third of seven ratings, and defined as "Regardless of the severity of a general economic downturn or deterioration in the insurance cycle, insurers earning a FSR of "A" possess "Exceptional" financial stability related to maintaining surplus as regards to policyholders". Demotech's ratings are based upon factors of concern to agents, reinsurers and policyholders and are not primarily directed toward the protection of investors. Our Demotech rating could be jeopardized by factors including adverse development and various surplus related ratio exceptions. On December 15, 2010, Demotech reaffirmed Federated National's FSR of "A" ("Exceptional").

The withdrawal of our ratings could limit or prevent us from writing or renewing desirable insurance policies, from competing with insurers who have higher ratings, from obtaining adequate reinsurance, or from borrowing on a line of credit. The withdrawal of our ratings could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and financial position because the Company's insurance products might no longer be acceptable to the secondary marketplace and mortgage lenders. Furthermore, a withdrawal of our ratings could prevent independent agents from selling and servicing our insurance products.

#### **EMPLOYEES**

As of December 31, 2010, we had 127 employees, including two executive officers. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreement and we have not experienced work stoppages or strikes as a result of labor disputes. We consider relations with our employees to be satisfactory.

#### ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

We are subject to certain risks in our business operations which are described below. Careful consideration of these risks should be made before making an investment decision. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing 21st Century. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known or currently deemed immaterial may also impair our business operations.

#### Risks Related to Our Business

Effective January 26, 2011, Federated National merged with and into American Vehicle, and the resulting entity changed its name to "Federated National Insurance Company".

Our financial condition could be adversely affected by the occurrence of natural and man-made disasters.

We write insurance policies that cover homeowners, business owners and automobile owners for losses that result from, among other things, catastrophes and sinkholes. Catastrophic losses can be caused by hurricanes, tropical storms, tornadoes, wind, hail, fires, riots and explosions, and their incidence and severity are inherently unpredictable. The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function of two factors: the total amount of the insurance company's exposure in the area affected by the event and the severity of the event. Our policyholders are currently concentrated in South and Central Florida, which is especially subject to adverse weather conditions such as hurricanes and tropical storms.

In 2004 and 2005, the state of Florida experienced nine hurricanes. One of our subsidiaries, Federated National, incurred significant losses relative to its homeowners' and mobile homeowners' insurance lines of business in connection with these catastrophic weather events. Aggregate losses in connection with these storms involved over 23,000 claims at a cost in excess of \$73.5 million, net of our reinsurance participation.

The occurrence of claims from catastrophic events could result in substantial volatility in our results of operations or financial condition for any fiscal quarter or year. Increases in the values and concentrations of insured property may also increase the severity of these occurrences in the future. Although we attempt to manage our exposure to such events through the use of underwriting controls and the purchase of third-party reinsurance, catastrophic events are inherently unpredictable and the actual nature of such events when they occur could be more frequent or severe than contemplated in our pricing and risk management expectations. As a result, the occurrence of one or more catastrophic events could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

- 26 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

We have used nearly 100% of the reinsurance coverage available for Hurricane Wilma and if any claims exceed this coverage amount, it could adversely impact our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.

As of December 31, 2010 the loss experience (both paid and not yet paid) in connection with Hurricane Wilma which occurred in October 2005 has nearly exhausted the \$194.8 million reinsurance coverage which is available to us. If we incur any additional losses relating to Hurricane Wilma which exceed our reinsurance coverage, we will be responsible for paying these claims out of our available operating funds. If any of these payments to settle the Hurricane Wilma claims (which exceed our reinsurance coverage) are material, it will have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Although we follow the industry practice of reinsuring a portion of our risks, our costs of obtaining reinsurance fluctuates and we may not be able to successfully alleviate risk through reinsurance arrangements.

The state of Florida has a history of exposure to extremely volatile weather related catastrophic events including hurricanes and tornados. The frequency and severity of these events can have a profound impact on our balance sheet and statements of operations and cash flows. Though the Company attempts to mitigate the impact of these events, there can be no assurance that we will be successful.

We have a reinsurance structure that is a combination of private reinsurance and the FHCF. Our reinsurance structure is comprised of several reinsurance companies with varying levels of participation providing coverage for loss and LAE at pre-established minimum and maximum amounts. Losses incurred in connection with a catastrophic event below the minimum and above the maximum are the responsibility of Federated National. For example, the loss experience incurred (both paid and not yet paid) in connection with Hurricane Wilma in October 2005 has nearly exhausted the \$194.8 million reinsurance coverage available. There can be no assurance that we will not exceed the coverage purchased.

As a result of the nine hurricanes experienced in Florida during the fourteen month period between August 2004 and October 2005, and changes in Florida law in 2007 regarding the pricing and availability of reinsurance, we continue to review, and may determine to modify, our reinsurance structure.

Though there has been no occurrence of hurricanes in Florida within the last five hurricane seasons, some weather analysts believe that we have entered a period of greater hurricane activity while others suggest a diminished expectation for the near future. To address this risk, we are exploring alternatives to reduce our exposure to these types of storms. Although these measures may increase operating expenses, management believes that they will assist us in protecting long-term profitability, although there can be no assurances that will be the case.

The availability and costs associated with the acquisition of reinsurance will vary year to year. These fluctuations, which can be significant, are not subject to our control and may limit our ability to purchase adequate coverage. The recovery of increased reinsurance costs through rate action is not immediate and cannot be presumed, as it is subject to Florida OIR approval.

Insolvency of our primary reinsurer or any of our other current or future reinsurers including the FHCF, or their inability otherwise to pay claims, would increase the claims that we must pay, thereby potentially harming significantly our balance sheet, results of operations and cash flow. In addition, prevailing market conditions have increased the availability and limited the cost of reinsurance, although there can be no assurances that these conditions will persist.

We face a risk of non-collectibility of reinsurance, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.

As is common practice within the insurance industry, we transfer a portion of the risks insured under our policies to other companies through the purchase of reinsurance. This reinsurance is maintained to protect our insurance subsidiary against the severity of losses on individual claims, unusually serious occurrences in which a number of claims produce an aggregate extraordinary loss and catastrophic events. Although reinsurance does not discharge our insurance subsidiary from its primary obligation to pay for losses insured under the policies it issues, reinsurance does make the assuming reinsurer liable to the insurance subsidiary for the reinsured portion of the risk. A credit exposure exists with respect to ceded losses to the extent that any reinsurer is unable or unwilling to meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance contracts. The collectibility of reinsurance is subject to the solvency of the reinsurers, interpretation of contract language and other factors. A reinsurer's insolvency or inability to make payments under the terms of a reinsurance contract could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

- 27 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

The availability and costs associated with the acquisition of reinsurance will vary year to year. These fluctuations, which can be significant, are not subject to our control and may limit our ability to purchase adequate coverage. The recovery of increased reinsurance costs through rate action is not immediate and cannot be presumed, as it is subject to Florida OIR approval.

For the 2010-2011 hurricane season, the excess of loss and FHCF treaties will insure the property lines for approximately \$360.7 million of aggregate catastrophic losses and LAE with a maximum single event coverage totaling approximately \$285.5 million, with the Company retaining the first \$5.0 million of losses and LAE for each event. Our reinsurance program includes coverage purchased from the private market, which affords optional reinstatement premium protection that provides coverage beyond the first event, along with any remaining coverage from the FHCF. Coverage afforded by the FHCF totals approximately \$220.4 million, or 61.1% of the \$360.7 million of aggregate catastrophic losses and LAE. The FHCF affords coverage for the entire season, subject to maximum payouts, without regard to any particular insurable event.

Our reinsurance structure has significant risks, including the fact that the FHCF may not be able to raise sufficient money to pay their claims or impair their ability to pay their claims in a timely manner. This could result in significant financial, legal and operational challenges to our company.

Therefore, in the event of a catastrophic loss, we may become dependent upon the FHCF's ability to pay, which may, in turn, be dependent upon the FHCF's ability to issue bonds in amounts that would be required to meet its reinsurance obligations in the event of such a catastrophic loss. In this economic climate, there is no assurance that the FHCF will be able to do this.

Please see "Business-Reinsurance" for more information about FHCF.

If we are unable to continue our growth because our capital must be used to pay greater than anticipated claims, our financial results may suffer.

Our future growth will depend on our ability to expand the types of insurance products we offer and the geographic markets in which we do business, both balanced by the business risks we choose to assume and cede. We believe that our Company is sufficiently capitalized to operate our business as it now exists and as we currently plan to expand it. Our existing sources of funds include possible sales of our investment securities and our earnings from operations and investments. Unexpected catastrophic events in our market areas, such as the hurricanes experienced in Florida, have resulted and may result in greater claims losses than anticipated, which could require us to limit or halt our growth while we redeploy our capital to pay these unanticipated claims.

We may require additional capital in the future which may not be available or only available on unfavorable terms.

Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including our ability to write new business successfully and to establish premium rates and reserves at levels sufficient to cover losses. To the extent that our present capital is insufficient to meet future operating requirements and/or cover losses, we may need to raise additional funds through financings or curtail our growth. Based on our current operating plan, we believe current capital, together with our anticipated retained earnings, will support our operations without the need to raise additional capital. However, we cannot provide any assurance in that regard, since many factors will affect our capital needs and their amount and timing, including our growth and profitability, our claims experience, and the availability of reinsurance, as well as possible acquisition opportunities, market disruptions and other unforeseeable developments.

If we had to raise additional capital, equity or debt financing may not be available at all or may be available only on terms that are not favorable to us. In the case of equity financings, dilution to our stockholders' ownership could result, and in any case such securities may have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to those of existing shareholders. If we cannot obtain adequate capital on favorable terms or at all, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Our business is heavily regulated, and changes in regulation may reduce our profitability and limit our growth.

We are subject to extensive regulation in the states in which we conduct business. This regulation is generally designed to protect the interests of policyholders, as opposed to shareholders and other investors, and relates to authorization for lines of business, capital and surplus requirements, investment limitations, underwriting limitations, transactions with affiliates, dividend limitations, changes in control, premium rates and a variety of other financial and non-financial components of an insurance company's business. The NAIC and state insurance regulators are constantly reexamining existing laws and regulations, generally focusing on modifications to holding company regulations, interpretations of existing laws and the development of new laws.

- 28 -

#### **Table of Contents**

## 21st Century Holding Company

In January 2011, we entered into a Consent Order with the Florida OIR in connection with our request for approval of the merger of Federated National into American Vehicle. See "Recent Developments – Consent Order". Among other things, the Consent Order requires us to reduce the concentration of our homeowners' policies in the Tri-County Area. This reduction in concentration could materially adversely affect us by limiting our ability to write policies in the most populous region of the State of Florida, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations if we are not able to replace those policies with policies elsewhere in Florida or the other states in which we do business.

From time to time, some states in which we conduct business have considered or enacted laws that may alter or increase state authority to regulate insurance companies and insurance holding companies. In other situations, states in which we conduct business have considered or enacted laws that impact the competitive environment and marketplace for property and casualty insurance. For example, in 2007 Florida enacted legislation that required us to charge rates for homeowners insurance that we believe are inadequate to cover the related underwriting risk. This same legislation authorizes a state-owned insurance company to reduce its premium rates and begin competing against private insurers in the Florida residential property insurance market.

Currently the federal government does not directly regulate the insurance business. However, in recent years the state insurance regulatory framework has come under increased federal scrutiny. Congress and some federal agencies from time to time investigate the current condition of insurance regulation in the United States to determine whether to impose federal regulation or to allow an optional federal charter, similar to banks. In addition, changes in federal legislation and administrative policies in several areas, including changes in the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, financial services regulation and federal taxation, can significantly impact the insurance industry and us.

We cannot predict with certainty the effect any enacted, proposed or future state or federal legislation or NAIC initiatives may have on the conduct of our business. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the regulatory requirements applicable to our business will not become more stringent in the future or result in materially higher costs than current requirements. Changes in the regulation of our business may reduce our profitability, limit our growth or otherwise adversely affect our operations.

We may experience financial exposure from climate change.

Our financial exposure from climate change is most notably associated with losses in connection with the occurrence of hurricanes striking Florida. We mitigate the risk of financial exposure from climate change by restrictive underwriting criteria, sensitivity to geographic concentrations and reinsurance.

Restrictive underwriting criteria can include, but are not limited to, higher premiums and deductibles and more specifically excluded policy risks such as fences and screened-in enclosures. New technological advances in computer generated geographical mapping afford us an enhanced perspective as to geographic concentrations of policyholders and proximity to flood prone areas. Our amount of maximum reinsurance coverage is determined by subjecting our homeowner and mobile homeowner exposures to statistical forecasting models that are designed to quantify a catastrophic event in terms of the frequency of a storm occurring once in every "n" years. Our reinsurance coverage contemplated a catastrophic event occurring once every 100 years. Our amount of losses retained (our deductible) in connection with a catastrophic event is determined by market capacity, pricing conditions and surplus preservation.

Our loss reserves may be inadequate to cover our actual liability for losses, causing our results of operations to be adversely affected.

We maintain reserves to cover our estimated ultimate liabilities for loss and LAE. These reserves are estimates based on historical data and statistical projections of what we believe the settlement and administration of claims will cost based on facts and circumstances then known to us. Actual loss and LAE reserves, however, may vary significantly from our estimates.

Factors that affect unpaid losses and LAE include the estimates made on a claim-by-claim basis known as "case reserves" coupled with bulk estimates known as IBNR. Periodic estimates by management of the ultimate costs required to settle all claim files are based on our analysis of historical data and estimations of the impact of numerous factors such as (i) per claim information; (ii) company and industry historical loss experience; (iii) legislative enactments, judicial decisions, legal developments in the awarding of damages, and changes in political attitudes; and (iv) trends in general economic conditions, including the effects of inflation. Management revises its estimates based on the results of its analysis. This process assumes that past experience, adjusted for the effects of current developments and anticipated trends, is an appropriate basis for estimating the ultimate settlement of all claims. There is no precise method for subsequently evaluating the impact of any specific factor on the adequacy of the reserves, because the eventual redundancy or deficiency is affected by multiple factors.

- 29 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

Because of the uncertainties that surround estimated loss reserves, we cannot be certain that our reserves will be adequate to cover our actual losses. If our reserves for unpaid losses and LAE are less than actual losses and LAE, we will be required to increase our reserves with a corresponding reduction in our net income in the period in which the deficiency is identified. Future loss experience substantially in excess of our reserves for unpaid losses and LAE could substantially harm our results of operations and financial condition.

Our revenues and operating performance will fluctuate due to statutorily approved assessments that support property and casualty insurance pools and associations.

We operate in a regulatory environment where certain entities and organizations have the authority to require us to participate in assessments. Currently these entities and organizations include, but are not limited to, the Florida Joint Underwriters Association ("JUA"), FIGA, Citizens and the FHCF. The current assessments stem from the catastrophic effects to the property insurance industry in the state of Florida from the hurricanes that occurred during the fourteen months between August 2004 and October 2005.

Several of the assessments resulted in a charge to current operations. The insurance companies currently pass the assessments on to insurance policies, in the form of a policy surcharge, and reflect the collection of these assessments as fully earned credits to operations in the period collected. The collection of these fees may adversely affect our overall marketing strategy due to the competitive landscape in Florida. All other pricing considerations remaining the same, a newly formed property insurance company would not be subject to the recoupment of previously imposed assessments.

During 2009, we noted that the Florida OIR placed at least four property and casualty insurance companies in some form of receivership while several other Florida domiciled insurance companies have recapitalized in order to remain viable in the Florida market. The insolvency of these companies poses a risk to all other remaining carriers in the state including Federated National and American Vehicle in terms of assessments to support those failed companies. To date we are not aware of any such assessments in connection with the takeovers during 2009; however, no guarantee can be made that no assessments will be imposed.

Future assessments are likely, however the impact of these assessments on our balance sheet, results of operations or cash flow are undeterminable at this time.

Our investment portfolio may suffer reduced returns or losses, which would significantly reduce our earnings.

As do other insurance companies, we depend on income from our investment portfolio for a substantial portion of our earnings. During the time that normally elapses between the receipt of insurance premiums and any payment of insurance claims, we invest the funds received, together with our other available capital, primarily in debt securities and to a lesser extent in equity securities, in order to generate investment income.

Our investment portfolio contains interest rate sensitive instruments, such as bonds, which may be adversely affected by changes in interest rates. A significant increase in interest rates or decrease in credit worthiness could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Generally, bond prices decrease as interest rates rise. Changes in interest rates could also have an adverse effect on our investment income and results of operations. For example, if interest rates decline, investment of new premiums received and funds reinvested will earn less than expected.

We may experience a loss due to the concentration of credit risk.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents held in a mutual fund money market account. Management believes that the financial institution holding the Company's mutual fund money market account is credit worthy and accordingly minimal credit risk exists with respect to those investments.

The Company had approximately \$14.2 million and \$19.2 million invested in the MTB Prime Money Market-Inst Fund Number 142, for which the NAIC classification is Class 1, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. A money market fund is eligible for listing on the Class 1 list if the fund meets the following conditions:

- 30 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

- The fund maintains a rating of "A" or better from Standard and Poor's or a rating of "A" or better from Moody's Investor's Services ("Moody's") or an equivalent or better rating from another NAIC Acceptable Rating Organizations ("ARO");
  - The fund maintains a constant net asset value of \$1.00 at all times;
  - The fund allows a maximum of seven-day redemption of proceeds; and
- •The fund invests at least ninety-five percent (95%) of its total assets in any combination of: the United States Government securities listed in Section 14 of the Appendix, securities rated in the highest short term rating category by an NAIC ARO, unrated securities determined by the fund's Board to be of comparable quality, securities of money market funds that are registered investment companies and collateralized repurchase agreements comprised of such obligations at all times. The remaining five percent (5%) may be invested in Second Tier Securities as that phrase is defined by Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (17 CFR 270.2a-7).

We face risks in connection with potential material weakness resulting from our Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 management report and any related remedial measures that we undertake.

In conjunction with our ongoing reporting obligations as a public company and the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, management reported on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010. In order to identify any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we engaged in a process to document, evaluate and test our internal controls and procedures, including corrections to existing controls and implement additional controls and procedures that we may deem necessary. As a result of this evaluation and testing process, no material financial reporting deficiencies were noted.

Although we did not have any material weaknesses in our internal controls for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, we cannot be certain that there will be none in the future. In future periods, if the process required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act reveals significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, the correction of any such significant deficiencies or material weaknesses could require additional remedial measures that could be costly and time-consuming. In addition, the discovery of material weaknesses could also require the restatement of prior period operating results. If a material weakness exists as of a future period year-end (including a material weakness identified prior to year-end for which there is an insufficient period of time to evaluate and confirm the effectiveness of the corrections or related new procedures), our management will be unable to report favorably as of such future period year-end as to the effectiveness of our control over financial reporting and we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which could have an adverse effect on our stock price and potentially subject us to litigation.

The failure of any of the loss limitation methods we employ could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or our results of operations.

Various provisions of our policies, such as limitations or exclusions from coverage which have been negotiated to limit our risks, may not be enforceable in the manner we intend. At the present time we employ a variety of exclusions to our policies that limit exposure to known risks, including, but not limited to, exclusions relating to certain named liabilities, types of vehicles and specific artisan activities.

In addition, the policies we issue contain conditions requiring the prompt reporting of claims to us and our right to decline coverage in the event of a violation of that condition. While our insurance product exclusions and limitations reduce the loss exposure to us and help eliminate known exposures to certain risks, it is possible that a court or

regulatory authority could nullify or void an exclusion or legislation could be enacted modifying or barring the use of such endorsements and limitations in a way that would adversely affect our loss experience, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

The effects of emerging claim and coverage issues on our business are uncertain.

As industry practices and legal, judicial, social and other conditions change, unexpected and unintended issues related to claims and coverage may emerge. These issues may adversely affect our business by either extending coverage beyond our underwriting intent or by increasing the number or size of claims. In some instances, these changes may not become apparent until sometime after we have issued insurance contracts that are affected by the changes. As a result, the full extent of liability under our insurance contracts may not be known for many years after a contract is issued.

- 31 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

An example of such emerging change is the influence public adjusters have had on property claim patterns. Public adjusters represented the vast majority of new and reopened claims filed during 2010 and 2009 where the cause of loss was asserted as hurricane related. Although the legitimacy of the claim may not prevail we are still required to research, review, and sometimes mediate these claims. Several legislative actions in the state of Florida, such as limiting the time a claim can be filed subsequent to the cause of loss, have either passed or remain in legislative sub-committees. Each of these actions is designed to enhance the legitimacy of the public adjusters' influence on the claim process.

The Company's operating results in 2010 and 2009 were also influenced by legislative enactments relating to claims payments. Following the 2004 and 2005 hurricane seasons, the Florida legislature required all insurers issuing replacement cost policies to pay the full replacement cost of damaged properties without deducting depreciation whether or not the insureds repaired or replaced the damaged property. Under prior law, insurers would pay the depreciated amount of the property until insureds commenced repairs or replacement. The new law has led to an increase in disagreements regarding the scope of damage and has resulted in insureds' not repairing damage. Despite our efforts to adjust claims and promptly pay meritorious amounts, our operating results have been be affected by a claims environment in Florida that produces opportunities for fraudulent or overstated claims.

Our failure to pay claims accurately could adversely affect our business, financial results and capital requirements.

We must accurately evaluate and pay claims that are made under our policies. Many factors affect our ability to pay claims accurately, including the training and experience of our claims representatives, the culture of our claims organization and the effectiveness of our management, our ability to develop or select and implement appropriate procedures and systems to support our claims functions and other factors. Our failure to pay claims accurately could lead to material litigation, undermine our reputation in the marketplace, impair our image and negatively affect our financial results.

In addition, if we do not train new claims adjusting employees effectively or if we lose a significant number of experienced claims adjusting employees, our claims department's ability to handle an increasing workload as we grow could be adversely affected. In addition to potentially requiring that growth be slowed in the affected markets, we could suffer decreased quality of claims work, which in turn could lower our operating margins.

Our insurance companies are subject to minimum capital and surplus requirements, and our failure to meet these requirements could subject us to regulatory action.

Our insurance companies are subject to risk-based capital standards and other minimum capital and surplus requirements imposed under applicable state laws, including the laws of their state of domicile, Florida. The risk-based capital standards, based upon the Risk Based Capital Model Act adopted by the NAIC require our insurance companies to report their results of risk-based capital calculations to state departments of insurance and the NAIC. These risk-based capital standards provide for different levels of regulatory attention depending upon the ratio of an insurance company's total adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with NAIC guidelines, to its authorized control level risk-based capital. Authorized control level risk-based capital is the number determined by applying the NAIC's risk-based capital formula, which measures the minimum amount of capital that an insurance company needs to support its overall business operations.

Any failure by one of our insurance companies to meet the applicable risk-based capital or minimum statutory capital requirements imposed by the laws of Florida or other states where we do business could subject it to further examination or corrective action imposed by state regulators, including limitations on our writing of additional

business, state supervision or liquidation. As of December 31, 2010, American Vehicle and Federated National were in compliance with the NAIC risk-based capital requirements (see "Business-Regulation" for further discussion).

Any changes in existing risk-based capital requirements or minimum statutory capital requirements may require us to increase our statutory capital levels, which we may be unable to do.

Our revenues and operating performance may fluctuate with business cycles in the property and casualty insurance industry.

Historically, the financial performance of the property and casualty insurance industry has tended to fluctuate in cyclical patterns characterized by periods of significant competition in pricing and underwriting terms and conditions, which is known as a "soft" insurance market, followed by periods of lessened competition and increasing premium rates, which is known as a "hard" insurance market. Although an individual insurance company's financial performance is dependent on its own specific business characteristics, the profitability of most property and casualty insurance companies tends to follow this cyclical market pattern, with profitability generally increasing in hard markets and decreasing in soft markets. At present, we are experiencing a soft market in the property and casualty market in Florida because of regulatory changes. We cannot predict, however, how long these market conditions will persist. We do not compete entirely on price or targeted market share. Our ability to compete is governed by our ability to assess and price an insurance product with an acceptable risk for obtaining profit.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

We may not obtain the necessary regulatory approvals to expand the types of insurance products we offer or the states in which we operate.

The insurance industry is highly regulated. Prior to selling a new insurance product in a state, we must obtain approval from the applicable state insurance regulators. The insurance regulators in states to which we might apply may request additional information, add conditions to the license that we find unacceptable, or deny our application. This would delay or prevent us from operating in that state. If we want to operate in any additional states, we must file similar applications for licenses, which we may not be successful in obtaining.

Adverse ratings by insurance rating agencies may adversely impact our ability to write new policies, renew desirable policies or obtain adequate insurance, which could limit or halt our growth and harm our business.

Third-party rating agencies assess and rate the ability of insurers to pay their claims. These financial strength ratings are used by the insurance industry to assess the financial strength and quality of insurers. These ratings are based on criteria established by the rating agencies and reflect evaluations of each insurer's profitability, debt and cash levels, customer base, adequacy and soundness of reinsurance, quality and estimated market value of assets, adequacy of reserves, and management. Ratings are based upon factors of concern to agents, reinsurers and policyholders and are not directed toward the protection of investors, such as purchasers of our common stock.

For example, on March 31, 2010, Demotech reaffirmed Federated National's FSR of "A" ("Exceptional") subject to a \$10.0 million infusion of capital into Federated National. This infusion was completed effective March 31, 2010 and was in the form of a \$5.0 million capital contribution from the Company and a \$5.0 million loan from American Vehicle to Federated National evidenced by a \$5.0 million subordinated surplus debenture due from Federated National to American Vehicle. On December 15, 2010, Demotech reaffirmed Federated National's FSR of "A" ("Exceptional"). Effective January 26, 2011, Federated National merged with and into American Vehicle, and the resulting entity changed its name to "Federated National Insurance Company". In connection with this merger, the Company, Federated National and American Vehicle entered into the Consent Order with the Florida OIR, which includes the stipulation that the above mentioned \$5.0 million loan from American Vehicle to Federated National be forgiven.

The withdrawal of our ratings could limit or prevent us from writing or renewing desirable insurance policies, from competing with insurers who have higher ratings, from obtaining adequate reinsurance, or from borrowing on a line of credit. The withdrawal of our ratings could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and financial position because the Company's insurance products might no longer be acceptable to the secondary marketplace and mortgage lenders. Furthermore, a withdrawal of our ratings could prevent independent agents from selling and servicing our insurance products.

We rely on independent and general agents to write our insurance policies, and if we are not able to attract and retain independent and general agents, our revenues would be negatively affected.

We currently market and distribute Federated National's and American Vehicle's products and services through contractual relationships with a network of approximately 4,200 independent agents, of which approximately 400 actively sell and service our products, and a selected number of general agents. Our independent agents are our primary source for our automobile and property insurance policies. Many of our competitors also rely on independent agents. As a result, we must compete with other insurers for independent agents' business. Our competitors may offer a greater variety of insurance products, lower premiums for insurance coverage, or higher commissions to their agents. If our products, pricing and commissions do not remain competitive, we may find it more difficult to attract business

from independent agents to sell our products. A material reduction in the amount of our products that independent agents sell could negatively affect our revenues.

We rely on our information technology and telecommunications systems, and the failure of these systems could disrupt our operations.

Our business is highly dependent upon the successful and uninterrupted functioning of our current information technology and telecommunications systems. We rely on these systems to process new and renewal business, provide customer service, make claims payments and facilitate collections and cancellations, as well as to perform actuarial and other analytical functions necessary for pricing and product development. As a result, the failure of these systems could interrupt our operations and adversely affect our financial results.

- 33 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

Nonstandard automobile insurance historically has a higher frequency of claims than standard automobile insurance, thereby increasing our potential for loss exposure beyond what we would be likely to experience if we offered only standard automobile insurance.

Nonstandard automobile insurance is provided to insureds that are unable to obtain preferred or standard insurance coverage because of their payment histories, driving records, age, vehicle types, or prior claims histories. This type of automobile insurance historically has a higher frequency of claims than does preferred or standard automobile insurance policies, although the average dollar amount of the claims is usually smaller under nonstandard insurance policies. As a result, we are exposed to the possibility of increased loss exposure and higher claims experience than would be the case if we offered only standard automobile insurance.

Florida's personal injury protection insurance statute contains provisions that favor claimants, causing us to experience a higher frequency of claims than might otherwise be the case if we operated only outside of Florida.

Florida's personal injury protection insurance statute limits an insurer's ability to deny benefits for medical treatment that is unrelated to the accident, that is unnecessary, or that is fraudulent. In addition, the statute allows claimants to obtain awards for attorney's fees. Although this statute has been amended several times in recent years, primarily to address concerns over fraud, the Florida legislature has been only marginally successful in implementing effective mechanisms that allow insurers to combat fraud and other abuses. We believe that this statute contributes to a higher frequency of claims under nonstandard automobile insurance policies in Florida, as compared with claims under standard automobile insurance policies in Florida and nonstandard and standard automobile insurance policies in other states. Although we believe that we have successfully offset these higher costs with premium increases, because of competition, we may not be able to do so with as much success in the future.

Our success depends on our ability to accurately price the risks we underwrite.

The results of our operations and the financial condition of our insurance companies depend on our ability to underwrite and set premium rates accurately for a wide variety of risks. Rate adequacy is necessary to generate sufficient premiums to pay losses, LAE and underwriting expenses and to earn a profit. In order to price our products accurately, we must collect and properly analyze a substantial amount of data; develop, test and apply appropriate rating formulas; closely monitor and timely recognize changes in trends; and project both severity and frequency of losses with reasonable accuracy. Our ability to undertake these efforts successfully, and as a result price our products accurately, is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, some of which are outside our control, including:

- the availability of sufficient reliable data and our ability to properly analyze available data;
  - the uncertainties that inherently characterize estimates and assumptions;
  - our selection and application of appropriate rating and pricing techniques;
- changes in legal standards, claim settlement practices, medical care expenses and restoration costs; and
  - legislatively imposed consumer initiatives.

Consequently, we could under-price risks, which would negatively affect our profit margins, or we could overprice risks, which could reduce our sales volume and competitiveness. In either event, the profitability of our insurance companies could be materially and adversely affected.

Current operating resources are necessary to develop future new insurance products.

We currently intend to expand our product offerings by underwriting additional insurance products and programs, and marketing them through our distribution network. Expansion of our product offerings will result in increases in expenses due to additional costs incurred in actuarial rate justifications, software and personnel. Offering additional insurance products may also require regulatory approval, further increasing our costs. There can be no assurance that we will be successful bringing new insurance products to our marketplace.

- 34 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

Increased competition, competitive pressures, industry developments and market conditions could affect the growth of our business and adversely impact our financial results.

We operate in highly competitive markets and face competition from national, regional and residual market insurance companies in the homeowners', commercial residential property, commercial general liability, and automobile markets, many of whom are larger, have greater financial and other resources, and offer more diversified insurance coverage. Our competitors include companies that market their products through agents, as well as companies that sell insurance directly to their customers. Large national writers may have certain competitive advantages over agency writers, including increased name recognition, increased loyalty of their customer base and reduced policy acquisition costs.

Significant competition also emerged because of fundamental changes in 2007 made to the property and casualty insurance business in Florida, which resulted in a multi-pronged approach to address the cost of residential property insurance in Florida. First, the law increased the capacity of reinsurance that stabilized the reinsurance market to the benefit of the insurance companies writing properties lines in Florida. Secondly, the law provided for rate relief to all policyholders. The law also authorized the state-owned insurance company, Citizens, which is free of many of the restraints on private carriers such as surplus, ratios, income taxes and reinsurance expense, to reduce its premium rates and begin competing against private insurers in the residential property insurance market and expands the authority of Citizens to write commercial insurance. We believe that these aggressive marketplace changes in 2007 forced some carriers to pursue market share based on "best case" pricing models that may ultimately prove unprofitable from an underwriting perspective.

For example, during 2009 we noted that the Florida OIR placed at least four property and casualty insurance companies in some form of receivership while several other Florida domiciled insurance companies have recapitalized in order to remain viable in the Florida market. The insolvency of these companies poses a risk to all other remaining carriers in the state including Federated National and American Vehicle in terms of assessments to support those failed companies. Through December 31, 2010, we are not aware of any such assessments in connection with the takeovers during 2009 and prior years; however, no guarantee can be made that no assessments will be imposed.

In recent years, approximately two-dozen new homeowner insurance companies received authority by the Florida OIR to commence business as admitted carriers in the state.

In 2006, the state of Florida created the Insurance Capital Build-Up Incentive Program in response to the catastrophic events that occurred during 2004 and 2005. This program provided matching capital funds to any new or existing carrier licensed to write homeowners' insurance in the state of Florida under certain conditions. This program resulted in a significant erosion of our homeowners' insurance market since 2007. We did not participate in the Insurance Capital Build-Up Incentive Program. Although our pricing is inevitably influenced to some degree by that of our competitors, we believe that it is generally not in our shareholders' best interest to compete solely on price.

We face increased competition from existing carriers and new entrants in our niche markets. As mentioned earlier, in an effort to foster competition after the hurricanes of 2004 and 2005, the State of Florida loaned money to multiple carriers with certain debt covenants, including the maintenance of minimum written premium. Our competition has attempted to gain market share through aggressive pricing and generous policy acquisition costs, which has had an adverse affect on our ability to maintain market share. Although our pricing is inevitably influenced to some degree by that of our competitors, we believe that it is generally not in our best interest to compete solely on price. We compete based on underwriting criteria, our distribution network and superior service to our agents and insureds.

In Florida, more than 200 companies are authorized to underwrite homeowners' insurance. National and regional companies that compete with us in the homeowners' market include Castle Key (formerly Allstate Floridian) Indemnity Insurance Company and Fidelity National Insurance Company. In addition to these nationally recognized companies, we also compete with several Florida domestic property and casualty companies such as, but not limited to, Universal Property and Casualty Insurance Company, Royal Palm Insurance Company, St. Johns Insurance Company, Cypress Property and Casualty Insurance Company, and American Strategic Insurance Company.

Companies, which compete with us nationally in the commercial general liability insurance market, include Century Surety Insurance Company, Atlantic Casualty Insurance Company, Colony Insurance Company and Burlington/First Financial Insurance Companies.

Comparable companies in the personal automobile insurance market include Kingsway Amigo Insurance Company, United Automobile Insurance Company, Direct General Insurance Company, and Ocean Harbor Insurance Company, as well as national insurers such as Progressive Casualty Insurance Company and GEICO.

- 35 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

Competition could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. If we do not meet the prices offered by our competitors, we may lose business in the short term, which could also result in reduced revenues.

Our senior management team is critical to the strategic direction of our company. If there were an unplanned loss of service by any of our officers our business could be harmed.

We depend, and will continue to depend, on the services of our executive management team which includes Michael Braun, our Chief Executive Officer and President of 21st Century Holding Company and Federated National, and Peter Prygelski, our Chief Financial Officer. Our success also will depend in part upon our ability to attract and retain qualified executive officers, experienced underwriting talent and other skilled employees who are knowledgeable about our business. If we were to lose the services of members of our executive management team, our business could be adversely affected. We believe we have been successful in attracting and retaining key personnel throughout our history. We have employment agreements with select members of our executive management team.

Nevertheless, because of the executive management role and involvement in developing and implementing our current business strategy, any unplanned loss of service could substantially harm our business.

Risks Related to an Investment in Our Shares

We have authorized but unissued preferred stock, which could affect rights of holders of common stock.

Our articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of preferred stock with designations, rights and preferences determined from time to time by our board of directors. Accordingly, our board of directors is empowered, without shareholder approval, to issue preferred stock with dividends, liquidation, conversion, voting or other rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of common stock. In addition, the preferred stock could be issued as a method of discouraging a takeover attempt. Although we do not intend to issue any preferred stock at this time, we may do so in the future.

Our articles of incorporation, bylaws and Florida law may discourage takeover attempts and may result in entrenchment of management.

- •Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that may discourage takeover attempts and may result in entrenchment of management.
  - Our board of directors is elected in classes, with only two or three of the directors elected each year. As a result, shareholders would not be able to change the membership of the board in its entirety in any one year. Shareholders would also be unable to bring about, through the election of a new board of directors, changes in our officers.
- Our articles of incorporation prohibit shareholders from acting by written consent, meaning that shareholders will be required to conduct a meeting in order to vote on any proposals or take any action.
- Our bylaws require at least 60 days' notice if a shareholder desires to submit a proposal for a shareholder vote or to nominate a person for election to our board of directors.

In addition, Florida has enacted legislation that may deter or frustrate takeovers of Florida corporations, such as our company.

- •The Florida Control Share Act provides that shares acquired in a "control share acquisition" will not have voting rights unless the voting rights are approved by a majority of the corporation's disinterested shareholders. A "control share acquisition" is an acquisition, in whatever form, of voting power in any of the following ranges: (a) at least 20% but less than 33-1/3% of all voting power, (b) at least 33-1/3% but less than a majority of all voting power; or (c) a majority or more of all voting power.
- The Florida Affiliated Transactions Act requires supermajority approval by disinterested shareholders of certain specified transactions between a public company and holders of more than 10% of the outstanding voting shares of the corporation (or their affiliates).

- 36 -

#### **Table of Contents**

### 21st Century Holding Company

As a holding company, we depend on the earnings of our subsidiaries and their ability to pay management fees and dividends to the holding company as the primary source of our income.

We are an insurance holding company whose primary assets are the stock of our subsidiaries. Our operations, and our ability to service future potential debt, are limited by the earnings of our subsidiaries and their payment of their earnings to us in the form of management fees, commissions, dividends, loans, advances or the reimbursement of expenses. These payments can be made only when our subsidiaries have adequate earnings. In addition, dividend payments made to us by our insurance subsidiaries are restricted by Florida law governing the insurance industry. Generally, Florida law limits the dividends payable by insurance companies under complicated formulas based on the subsidiary's available capital and earnings.

In the first quarter of 2010 we paid quarterly dividends of \$0.06 per share. In response to the capital infusion from American Vehicle during March 2010, the Florida OIR has required that the Company not expend capital on the payment of dividends or the buyback of the Company's common stock until Federated National experiences two consecutive quarters with an underwriting profit; hence no additional dividends were paid during 2010. Additionally, the January 2011 consent order prohibits the Company from paying dividends. In the first quarter of 2009, we lowered our dividend to \$0.06 per share. During 2008 we paid quarterly dividends of \$0.18 per share.

Payment of dividends in the future will depend on OIR approval, our earnings and financial position and such other factors, as our Board of Directors deems relevant. Moreover, our ability to continue to pay dividends may be restricted by regulatory limits on the amount of dividends that Federated National and American Vehicle are permitted to pay to the parent company.

#### ITEM 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

#### ITEM 2 PROPERTIES

Our executive offices are located at 3661 West Oakland Park Boulevard, Lauderdale Lakes, Florida in a 39,250 square feet office facility. All of our operations are consolidated within this facility.

Relative to the Company's commitments stemming from operational matters, we sold our interest in the building housing our operations in Lauderdale Lake on or about March 1, 2006 to an unrelated party. As part of this transaction, we agreed to lease the same facilities for a five-year term. We amended the lease agreement and the note receivable on September 1, 2010. As part of the amendment, we discounted the note receivable and have discontinued the interest on the note. In consideration, we will pay a reduced lease payment for the remainder of the lease. Our lease for this office space expires in December 2011.

We believe that the facilities are well maintained, in substantial compliance with environmental laws and regulations, and adequately covered by insurance. We also believe that these leased facilities are not unique and could be replaced, if necessary, at the end of the lease term.

#### ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Item 8 of Part II, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Footnote 10 – Commitments and Contingencies".

ITEM 4 RESERVED

- 37 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

#### **PART II**

# ITEM 5 MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock has been listed for trading on the NASDAQ Global Market, LLC under the symbol "TCHC" since November 5, 1998. The following table sets out the high and low closing sale prices as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market, LLC. These reported prices reflect inter-dealer prices without adjustments for retail markups, markdowns or commissions.

Quarter Ended	Hig	h	Low	7
March 31, 2010	\$	4.60	\$	3.96
June 30, 2010	\$	4.10	\$	3.55
September 30, 2010	\$	3.95	\$	3.26
December 31, 2010	\$	3.74	\$	3.14
March 31, 2009	\$	5.07	\$	1.63
June 30, 2009	\$	4.20	\$	2.86
September 30, 2009	\$	4.98	\$	3.03
December 31, 2009	\$	4.82	\$	3.78
March 31, 2009 June 30, 2009 September 30, 2009	\$ \$ \$	5.07 4.20 4.98	\$ \$ \$	1.63 2.86 3.03

As of March 11, 2011, there were 29 holders of record of our common stock. We believe that the number of beneficial owners of our common stock is in excess of 3,700.

### **DIVIDENDS**

In the first quarter of 2010 we paid quarterly dividends of \$0.06 per share. In response to the capital infusion from American Vehicle during March 2010, the Florida OIR has required that the Company not expend capital on the payment of dividends or the buyback of the Company's common stock until Federated National experiences two consecutive quarters with an underwriting profit; hence no additional dividends were paid during 2010. Additionally, the January 2011 consent order prohibits the Company from paying dividends. In the first quarter of 2009, we lowered our dividend to \$0.06 per share. During 2008 we paid quarterly dividends of \$0.18 per share.

Payment of dividends in the future will depend on the Florida OIR approval, our earnings and financial position and such other factors, as our Board of Directors deems relevant. Moreover, our ability to continue to pay dividends may be restricted by regulatory limits on the amount of dividends that Federated National and American Vehicle are permitted to pay to the parent company.

#### SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2010. All equity compensation plans were approved by our shareholders. We have not granted any options, warrants or rights to our shareholders outside of these equity compensation plans.

	<b>Equity Compensation</b>	Plan Information	
Plan category	Number of	Weighted-average	Number of
	securities to be	exercise price of	securities

	issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights (a)	outstanding options, varrants and rights (b)	remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a)) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by stock holders*	664,550	\$ 9.62	230,348

<sup>\*</sup> Includes options from the 1998 Stock Option Plan and the 2002 Stock Option Plan.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

For additional information concerning our capitalization please see Footnote 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K.

#### **ISSUER REPURCHASES**

As of January 1, 2010, the Company was authorized to purchase up to an additional \$4.8 million of its common stock. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, the Company did not repurchase any common stock under the stock repurchase plan announced in 2009 or its prior plan announced in 2007, because the Company suspended the shares purchase program, as directed by the Florida OIR.

#### SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During 2010, there were no options exercised under our various stock option plans.

#### ITEM 6 SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As of the years ended December 31, (Amounts in Thousands except Book Value Per Share)

Balance Sheet Data	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006
Total assets	\$184,049	\$202,889	\$197,102	\$219,361	\$207,897
Investments	122,485	114,219	26,065	136,224	124,834
Cash and short term investments	16,206	28,197	124,577	22,524	17,917
Finance contracts, consumer loans and pay					
advances receivable, net	-	-	-	420	1,831
Total liabilities	126,118	135,447	120,871	138,104	141,704
Unpaid losses and LAE	66,529	70,611	64,775	59,685	39,615
Unearned premiums	47,136	50,857	40,508	56,394	77,829
Total shareholders' equity	57,931	67,442	76,231	81,257	66,193
Book value per share	\$7.29	\$8.48	\$9.51	\$10.32	\$8.38

- 39 -

# Table of Contents

# 21st Century Holding Company

# Years Ended December 31, (Amounts in Thousands except EPS and Dividends)

Revenue:		2010	2009	2008	2007	2006
Gross premiums written \$96,410 \$104,379 \$88,248 \$133,591 \$152,665 Gross premiums ceded (52,963 ) (56,217 ) (34,553 ) (44,550 ) (67,520 )  Net premiums written 43,447 48,162 53,695 89,041 85,145   (Decrease) Increase in prepaid reinsurance premiums (2,108 ) 10,163 (4,451 ) (11,251 ) 20,193 Decrease (Increase) in unearned premiums 3,721 (10,349 ) 15,886 21,435 (15,990 )  Net change in prepaid reinsurance premiums and unearned premiums are 45,060 47,976 65,130 99,224 4,203   Net premiums earned 45,060 47,976 65,130 99,224 1,679 1,686 1,686 1,692 1,495 1,686 1,692 1,745 1,686 1,686 1,692 1,745 1,686 1,686 1,692 1,745 1,686 1,686 1,693 1,693 1,693 1,693 1,745 1,686 1,686 1,693 1,693 1,693 1,693 1,745 1,693 1,693 1,693 1,745 1,063 1,693 1,745 1,063 1,745 1,063 1,745 1,063 1,745 1,063 1,745 1,7	Operations Data:					
Net premiums written   43,447   48,162   53,695   89,041   85,145		\$06.410	\$104.370	¢ 00 240	¢122 501	¢152.665
Net premiums written	•	·		•		
Decrease   Increase in prepaid reinsurance premiums   (2,108   )   10,163   (4,451   )   (11,251   )   20,193   (15,990   )	Gross premiums ceded	(32,703	) (30,217	) (34,333	) (44,550	) (07,320 )
Decrease   Increase in prepaid reinsurance premiums	Net premiums written	43,447	48,162	53,695	89,041	85,145
premiums         (2,108)         10,163         (4,451)         (11,251)         20,193           Decrease (Increase) in unearned premiums         3,721         (10,349)         15,886         21,435         (15,990)           Net change in prepaid reinsurance premiums and unearned premiums         1,613         (186)         11,435         10,184         4,203           Net premiums carned         45,060         47,976         65,130         99,224         89,348           Commission income         1,388         1,362         1,612         7,214         1,679           Finance revenue         395         294         350         545         1,686           Managing general agent fees         1,609         1,620         1,745         2,035         2,625           Net investment income         3,726         3,397         6,461         8,038         5,933           Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593)         (145)         1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604	•					
Decrease (Increase) in unearned premiums   3,721   (10,349   ) 15,886   21,435   (15,990   )	(Decrease) Increase in prepaid reinsurance					
Net change in prepaid reinsurance premiums and unearned premiums   1,613	premiums	(2,108	) 10,163	(4,451	) (11,251	) 20,193
and unearmed premiums         1,613         (186         ) 11,435         10,184         4,203           Net premiums earned         45,060         47,976         65,130         99,224         89,348           Commission income         1,388         1,362         1,612         7,214         1,679           Finance revenue         395         294         350         545         1,686           Managing general agent fees         1,609         1,620         1,745         2,035         2,625           Net investment income         3,726         3,397         6,461         8,038         5,933           Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593         ) (145         ) 1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681	Decrease (Increase) in unearned premiums	3,721	(10,349	) 15,886	21,435	(15,990 )
and unearmed premiums         1,613         (186         ) 11,435         10,184         4,203           Net premiums earned         45,060         47,976         65,130         99,224         89,348           Commission income         1,388         1,362         1,612         7,214         1,679           Finance revenue         395         294         350         545         1,686           Managing general agent fees         1,609         1,620         1,745         2,035         2,625           Net investment income         3,726         3,397         6,461         8,038         5,933           Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593         ) (145         ) 1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681	Not all and in managed and accommon a managed and					
Net premiums earned		1 612	(106	) 11 425	10 104	4.202
Commission income         1,388         1,362         1,612         7,214         1,679           Finance revenue         395         294         350         545         1,686           Managing general agent fees         1,609         1,620         1,745         2,035         2,625           Net investment income         3,726         3,397         6,461         8,038         5,933           Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593         (145         ) 1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681         7,209         12,758         13,160           Salaries and wages         8,611         7,930         7,428         6,732         7,011           Interest expense         -         -	and unearned premiums	1,013	(180	) 11,433	10,164	4,203
Commission income         1,388         1,362         1,612         7,214         1,679           Finance revenue         395         294         350         545         1,686           Managing general agent fees         1,609         1,620         1,745         2,035         2,625           Net investment income         3,726         3,397         6,461         8,038         5,933           Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593         (145         ) 1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681         7,209         12,758         13,160           Salaries and wages         8,611         7,930         7,428         6,732         7,011           Interest expense         -         -	Net premiums earned	45,060	47,976	65,130	99.224	89.348
Finance revenue 395 294 350 545 1,686 Managing general agent fees 1,609 1,620 1,745 2,035 2,625 Net investment income 3,726 3,397 6,461 8,038 5,933 Net realized investment gains (losses) 6,777 1,117 (10,593) (145 ) 1,063 Regulatory assessments recovered 857 2,333 2,104 1,655 132 Other income 792 755 655 642 1,449  Total revenue 60,604 58,854 67,464 119,208 103,915  Expenses:  Losses and LAE 40,088 43,706 41,869 47,619 44,400 Operating and underwriting expenses 10,835 9,681 7,209 12,758 13,160 Salaries and wages 8,611 7,930 7,428 6,732 7,011 Interest expense 173 656 Policy acquisition costs - amortization 13,025 13,747 14,760 19,420 17,395  Total expenses 72,559 75,064 71,266 86,702 82,622  (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506 21,293 Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$ (7,996 ) \$ (10,289 ) \$ (2,478 ) \$ 21,280 \$ 13,896  Earnings per share data Net loss per share - basic \$ (1,01 ) \$ (1,29 ) \$ (0,31 ) \$ 2.69 \$ 1.84	•	·	•	·	·	·
Managing general agent fees         1,609         1,620         1,745         2,035         2,625           Net investment income         3,726         3,397         6,461         8,038         5,933           Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593         ) (145         ) 1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681         7,209         12,758         13,160           Salaries and wages         8,611         7,930         7,428         6,732         7,011           Interest expense         -         -         -         173         656           Policy acquisition costs - amortization         13,025         13,747         14,760         19,420         17,395           Total expense         72,559         75,064<						
Net investment income         3,726         3,397         6,461         8,038         5,933           Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593         ) (145         ) 1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:           Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681         7,209         12,758         13,160           Salaries and wages         8,611         7,930         7,428         6,732         7,011           Interest expense         -         -         -         173         656           Policy acquisition costs - amortization         13,025         13,747         14,760         19,420         17,395           Total expenses         72,559         75,064         71,266         86,702         82,622           (Loss) income before provision for income tax (bene						·
Net realized investment gains (losses)         6,777         1,117         (10,593)         (145)         1,063           Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681         7,209         12,758         13,160           Salaries and wages         8,611         7,930         7,428         6,732         7,011           Interest expense         -         -         -         173         656           Policy acquisition costs - amortization         13,025         13,747         14,760         19,420         17,395           Total expenses         72,559         75,064         71,266         86,702         82,622           (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense         (11,955)         (16,210)         (3,802)         32,506         21,293           Provision for income						
Regulatory assessments recovered         857         2,333         2,104         1,655         132           Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681         7,209         12,758         13,160           Salaries and wages         8,611         7,930         7,428         6,732         7,011           Interest expense         -         -         -         173         656           Policy acquisition costs - amortization         13,025         13,747         14,760         19,420         17,395           Total expenses         72,559         75,064         71,266         86,702         82,622           (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense         (3,959         ) (5,921         ) (1,324         ) 11,226         7,397           Net (loss) income         \$(7,996         ) \$(10,289         ) \$(2,478         ) \$21,280         \$13,896           Earnings per sh			·		·	•
Other income         792         755         655         642         1,449           Total revenue         60,604         58,854         67,464         119,208         103,915           Expenses:         Losses and LAE         40,088         43,706         41,869         47,619         44,400           Operating and underwriting expenses         10,835         9,681         7,209         12,758         13,160           Salaries and wages         8,611         7,930         7,428         6,732         7,011           Interest expense         -         -         -         173         656           Policy acquisition costs - amortization         13,025         13,747         14,760         19,420         17,395           Total expenses         72,559         75,064         71,266         86,702         82,622           (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense         (11,955         ) (16,210         ) (3,802         ) 32,506         21,293           Provision for income tax (benefit) expense         (3,959         ) (5,921         ) (1,324         ) 11,226         7,397           Net (loss) income         \$(7,996         ) \$(10,289         ) \$(2,478         ) \$21,280         \$13,896	The state of the s				, ,	
Total revenue 60,604 58,854 67,464 119,208 103,915  Expenses:  Losses and LAE 40,088 43,706 41,869 47,619 44,400  Operating and underwriting expenses 10,835 9,681 7,209 12,758 13,160  Salaries and wages 8,611 7,930 7,428 6,732 7,011  Interest expense 173 656  Policy acquisition costs - amortization 13,025 13,747 14,760 19,420 17,395  Total expenses 72,559 75,064 71,266 86,702 82,622  (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506 21,293  Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84					·	
Expenses:  Losses and LAE						
Losses and LAE       40,088       43,706       41,869       47,619       44,400         Operating and underwriting expenses       10,835       9,681       7,209       12,758       13,160         Salaries and wages       8,611       7,930       7,428       6,732       7,011         Interest expense       -       -       -       173       656         Policy acquisition costs - amortization       13,025       13,747       14,760       19,420       17,395         Total expenses       72,559       75,064       71,266       86,702       82,622         (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (11,955       ) (16,210       ) (3,802       ) 32,506       21,293         Provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (3,959       ) (5,921       ) (1,324       ) 11,226       7,397         Net (loss) income       \$(7,996       ) \$(10,289       ) \$(2,478       ) \$21,280       \$13,896         Earnings per share data         Net loss per share - basic       \$(1.01       ) \$(1.29       ) \$(0.31       ) \$2.69       \$1.84	Total revenue	60,604	58,854	67,464	119,208	103,915
Losses and LAE       40,088       43,706       41,869       47,619       44,400         Operating and underwriting expenses       10,835       9,681       7,209       12,758       13,160         Salaries and wages       8,611       7,930       7,428       6,732       7,011         Interest expense       -       -       -       173       656         Policy acquisition costs - amortization       13,025       13,747       14,760       19,420       17,395         Total expenses       72,559       75,064       71,266       86,702       82,622         (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (11,955       ) (16,210       ) (3,802       ) 32,506       21,293         Provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (3,959       ) (5,921       ) (1,324       ) 11,226       7,397         Net (loss) income       \$(7,996       ) \$(10,289       ) \$(2,478       ) \$21,280       \$13,896         Earnings per share data         Net loss per share - basic       \$(1.01       ) \$(1.29       ) \$(0.31       ) \$2.69       \$1.84						
Operating and underwriting expenses       10,835       9,681       7,209       12,758       13,160         Salaries and wages       8,611       7,930       7,428       6,732       7,011         Interest expense       -       -       -       173       656         Policy acquisition costs - amortization       13,025       13,747       14,760       19,420       17,395         Total expenses       72,559       75,064       71,266       86,702       82,622         (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (11,955       ) (16,210       ) (3,802       ) 32,506       21,293         Provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (3,959       ) (5,921       ) (1,324       ) 11,226       7,397         Net (loss) income       \$(7,996       ) \$(10,289       ) \$(2,478       ) \$21,280       \$13,896         Earnings per share data         Net loss per share - basic       \$(1.01       ) \$(1.29       ) \$(0.31       ) \$2.69       \$1.84	-					
Salaries and wages       8,611       7,930       7,428       6,732       7,011         Interest expense       -       -       -       173       656         Policy acquisition costs - amortization       13,025       13,747       14,760       19,420       17,395         Total expenses       72,559       75,064       71,266       86,702       82,622         (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (11,955       ) (16,210       ) (3,802       ) 32,506       21,293         Provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (3,959       ) (5,921       ) (1,324       ) 11,226       7,397         Net (loss) income       \$(7,996       ) \$(10,289       ) \$(2,478       ) \$21,280       \$13,896         Earnings per share data         Net loss per share - basic       \$(1.01       ) \$(1.29       ) \$(0.31       ) \$2.69       \$1.84			·	•	·	· ·
Interest expense       -       -       -       173       656         Policy acquisition costs - amortization       13,025       13,747       14,760       19,420       17,395         Total expenses       72,559       75,064       71,266       86,702       82,622         (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506       21,293         Provision for income tax (benefit) expense       (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226       7,397         Net (loss) income       \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280       \$13,896         Earnings per share data         Net loss per share - basic       \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69       \$1.84						
Policy acquisition costs - amortization 13,025 13,747 14,760 19,420 17,395  Total expenses 72,559 75,064 71,266 86,702 82,622  (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506 21,293  Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	•	8,611	7,930	7,428	·	·
Total expenses 72,559 75,064 71,266 86,702 82,622  (Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506 21,293  Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84		12.025	-	-		
(Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506 21,293 Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	Policy acquisition costs - amortization	13,025	13,/4/	14,/60	19,420	17,395
(Loss) income before provision for income tax (benefit) expense (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506 21,293 Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	Total expenses	72 559	75 064	71 266	86 702	82 622
tax (benefit) expense (11,955 ) (16,210 ) (3,802 ) 32,506 21,293 Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	Total expenses	12,337	75,004	71,200	00,702	02,022
Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (3,959 ) (5,921 ) (1,324 ) 11,226 7,397  Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	(Loss) income before provision for income					
Net (loss) income \$(7,996 ) \$(10,289 ) \$(2,478 ) \$21,280 \$13,896  Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	tax (benefit) expense	(11,955	) (16,210	) (3,802	) 32,506	21,293
Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	Provision for income tax (benefit) expense	(3,959	) (5,921	) (1,324	) 11,226	7,397
Earnings per share data  Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01 ) \$(1.29 ) \$(0.31 ) \$2.69 \$1.84	N. (4)	φ. <b>/7</b> .00 <i>/</i>	λ Φ.(10.200	) # (O 470	λ ΦΩ1 ΩΩΩ	φ12.00 <i>C</i>
Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01) \$(1.29) \$(0.31) \$2.69 \$1.84	net (loss) income	\$(7,996	) \$(10,289	) \$(2,4/8	) \$21,280	\$13,896
Net loss per share - basic \$(1.01) \$(1.29) \$(0.31) \$2.69 \$1.84	Earnings per share data					
		\$(1.01	) \$(1.29	) \$(0.31	) \$2.69	\$1.84
The 1055 per share - unuter $\phi(1.01)$ $\phi(1.27)$ $\phi(0.51)$ $\phi(2.05)$ $\phi(1.72)$	Net loss per share - diluted	\$(1.01	) \$(1.29	) \$(0.31	) \$2.65	\$1.72

Dividends paid per share	\$0.06	\$0.36	\$0.72	\$0.72	\$0.48
- 40 -					

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

# ITEM 7 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

#### **OVERVIEW**

21st Century Holding Company ("21st Century", "Company", "we", "us") is an insurance holding company, which, through our subsidiaries and our contractual relationships with our independent agents and general agents, controls substantially all aspects of the insurance underwriting, distribution and claims processes. We are authorized to underwrite homeowners' multi-peril ("homeowners"), personal umbrella, commercial general liability, following form commercial excess liability, personal and commercial automobile, fire, allied lines, workers' compensation, business personal property and commercial inland marine insurance. We are authorized to underwrite in various states on behalf of our wholly owned subsidiary, Federated National Insurance Company ("Federated National") and other insurance carriers. Federated National is the resulting entity following the merger of Federated National into our other wholly owned subsidiary, American Vehicle Insurance Company ("American Vehicle"), in January 2011. In connection with this merger, the Company, Federated National and American Vehicle entered into the Consent Order with the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation ("Florida OIR"). See "Recent Developments – Consent Order". We market and distribute our own and third-party insurers' products and our other services through a network of independent agents. We also utilize a select number of general agents for the same purpose.

The insurable events during 2010, 2009 and 2008 did not include any weather related catastrophic events such as the well publicized series of hurricanes that occurred in Florida during 2005 and 2004. During 2010, 2009 and 2008 we processed property and liability claims stemming from our homeowners', commercial general liability and private passenger automobile lines of business. Our reinsurance strategy serves to smooth the liquidity requirements imposed by most severe insurable events and for all other insurable events we manage, at a micro and macro perspective, in the normal course of business.

We are not certain how hurricanes and other insurable events will affect our future results of operations and liquidity. Loss and loss adjustment expenses ("LAE") are affected by a number of factors including:

- the quality of the insurable risks underwritten;
  - the nature and severity of the loss;
    - weather-related patterns;
- the availability, cost and terms of reinsurance;
- underlying settlement costs, including medical and legal costs;
- legal and political factors such as legislative initiatives and public opinion;
  - macroeconomic issues.

We continue to manage the foregoing to the extent within our control. Many of the foregoing are partially, or entirely, outside our control.

Federated National is licensed as an admitted carrier in Florida. Through contractual relationships with a network of approximately 4,200 independent agents, of which approximately 400 actively sell and service our products, Federated National is authorized to underwrite homeowners', fire, allied lines and personal automobile insurance in Florida. Effective January 26, 2011, Federated National merged into American Vehicle.

American Vehicle is licensed as an admitted carrier in Florida, and underwrites commercial general liability, and personal and commercial automobile insurance. American Vehicle is also licensed as an admitted carrier in Alabama, Louisiana, Georgia and Texas, and underwrites commercial general liability insurance in those states. American Vehicle operates as a non-admitted carrier in Arkansas, California, Kentucky, Maryland, Missouri, Nevada, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia, and can underwrite commercial general liability insurance in all of these states.

- 41 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As part of its approval of the merger between Federated National and American Vehicle, the Florida OIR, the Company, Federated National and American Vehicle entered into a consent order with the Florida OIR dated January 25, 2011 (the "Consent Order") pursuant to which the Company and the resulting company in the merger (the "Merged Company") have agreed to the following:

- The Merged Company shall retain the following licenses: (010) Fire, (020) Allied Lines, (040) Homeowners Multi Peril, (050) Commercial Multi Peril, (090) Inland Marine, (170) Other Liability, (192) Private Passenger Auto Liability, (194) Commercial Auto Liability, (211) Private Passenger Auto Physical Damage and (212) Commercial Auto Physical Damage.
- The Merged Company shall not write commercial multi peril policy premium without prior approval from the Florida OIR. The Merged Company currently has no commercial multi peril policy premium in force.
- The Merged Company shall surrender its surety license. The Merged Company currently has no Surety policy premium in force.
- The Merged Company shall not write new commercial habitation condominium associations without prior approval from the Florida OIR. The current commercial habitation book of business is approximately \$2.6 million of policy premium, which will be renewed pursuant to normal underwriting guidelines.
- The Merged Company has agreed to reduce the total number of its homeowners' policies in Miami-Dade, Broward and Palm Beach counties (the "Tri-County Area") to 40% of its entire homeowners' book by December 31, 2011 and limit its new homeowners' policies in the Tri-County Area to \$500,000 of new policy premium per month. The 40% will be achieved through the increased writing of property located outside of the Tri-County Area, the non-renewal of certain policies located within the Tri-County Area, and limiting the writing of new property located within the Tri-County Area. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had approximately 46.5% of its homeowners' policies located within Tri-County Area.
- The managing general agency fees payable by the Merged Company to Assurance Managing General Agents, Inc. ("Assurance MGA"), the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, which are currently 6% of gross written premium, will be reduced and will not exceed 4% without prior approval from the Florida OIR. The Merged Company has lowered the fee to 2% of gross written premium for the first quarter of 2011, 3% of gross written premium for the second quarter of 2011, and 4% of gross written premium thereafter. This will have no impact on the Company's consolidated financial results.
- The claims service fees payable by the Merged Company to Superior Adjusting, Inc. ("Superior"), another of the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries, will be reduced from 4.5% of gross earned premium to 3.6% of gross earned premium. This will have no impact on the Company's consolidated financial results.
- The Consent Order continues the prohibition on the Company from the payment of dividends until the Merged Company reports two consecutive quarters of net underwriting income.
- The Company provided the Florida OIR with a plan of operation and has agreed to provide certain reports to the Florida OIR on a monthly basis, and agreed to obtain the Florida OIR's approval prior to making any changes to the officers of the Merged Company during the first year following the effective date of the Merger.

An admitted carrier is an insurance company that has received a license from the state department of insurance giving the company the authority to write specific lines of insurance in that state. These companies are also bound by rate and form regulations, and are strictly regulated to protect policyholders from a variety of illegal and unethical practices, including fraud. Admitted carriers are also required to financially contribute to the state guarantee fund, which is used to pay for losses if an insurance carrier becomes insolvent or unable to pay the losses due their policyholders.

A non-admitted carrier is not licensed by the state, but is allowed to do business in that state and is strictly regulated to protect policyholders from a variety of illegal and unethical practices, including fraud. Sometimes, non-admitted carriers are referred to as "excess and surplus" lines carriers. Non-admitted carriers are subject to considerably less regulation with respect to policy rates and forms. Non-admitted carriers are not required to financially contribute to and benefit from the state guarantee fund, which is used to pay for losses if an insurance carrier becomes insolvent or unable to pay the losses due their policyholders.

- 42 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

During 2010, 79.7%, 12.3%, 4.1% and 3.9% of the premiums we underwrote were for homeowners', commercial general liability, federal flood, and personal automobile insurance, respectively. During 2009, 81.2%, 14.6%, 3.4% and 0.8% of the premiums we underwrote were for homeowners', commercial general liability, federal flood, and personal automobile insurance, respectively.

The Company's sale of homeowners' policies decreased \$7.9 million, or 9.3%, to \$76.8 million in 2010, compared with \$84.7 million in 2009, primarily due to the effects of Florida's mandated homeowners' wind mitigation discounts and the 2009 inclusion of \$17.9 million from policies we assumed from Citizens Property Insurance Corporation ("Citizens"). The primary factor for the decrease in commercial general liability production is a slowdown in the economy which has a dramatic impact on the artisan contractor portfolio written by American Vehicle.

Our business, results of operations and financial condition are subject to fluctuations due to a variety of factors. Abnormally high severity or frequency of claims in any period could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. When our estimated liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE are less than the actuarially determined amounts, we increase the expense in the current period. Conversely, when our estimated liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE are greater than the actuarially determined amounts, we decrease the expense in the current period.

We internally process claims made by our insureds through our wholly owned claims adjusting company, Superior Adjusting, Inc. ("Superior"). We also offer premium financing to our own and third-party insureds through our wholly owned subsidiary, Federated Premium Finance, Inc. ("Federated Premium").

Assurance MGA, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acts as Federated National's and American Vehicle's exclusive managing general agent in the state of Florida and is also licensed as a managing general agent in the states of Alabama, Arkansas, Georgia, Illinois, Louisiana, North Carolina, Mississippi, Missouri, New York, Nevada, South Carolina, Texas and Virginia. Assurance MGA has contracted with several unaffiliated insurance companies to sell commercial general liability, workers compensation, personal umbrella and inland marine insurance through Assurance MGA's existing network of agents.

Assurance MGA earns commissions and fees for providing policy administration, marketing, accounting and analytical services, and for participating in the negotiation of reinsurance contracts. Assurance MGA earns a \$25 per policy fee, and a 6% commission fee from its affiliates Federated National and American Vehicle. Effective the fourth quarter of 2010, Assurance MGA entered into a fee modification agreement wherein it will earn varying amounts between 2% and 4%, returning to 6% at an unknown future date.

The homeowner policy provides Assurance MGA the right to cancel any policy within a period of 90 days from the policy's inception with 25 days' notice, or after 90 days from policy inception with 95 days' notice, even if the risk falls within our underwriting criteria.

#### CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual results inevitably will differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material to the financial statements.

The most significant accounting estimates inherent in the preparation of our financial statements include estimates associated with management's evaluation of the determination of (i) liability for unpaid losses and LAE, (ii) the amount and recoverability of amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs ("DPAC"), and (iii) estimates for our reserves with respect to finance contracts, premiums receivable and deferred income taxes. Various assumptions and other factors underlie the determination of these significant estimates, which are described in greater detail at Footnote 2 in this Form 10-K.

Except as described below, we believe that in 2010 there were no significant changes in those critical accounting policies and estimates. Senior management has reviewed the development and selection of our critical accounting policies and estimates and their disclosure in this Form 10-K with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

The process of determining significant estimates is fact specific and takes into account factors such as historical experience, current and expected economic conditions, and in the case of unpaid losses and LAE, an actuarial valuation. Management regularly reevaluates these significant factors and makes adjustments where facts and circumstances dictate. In selecting the best estimate, we utilize various actuarial methodologies. Each of these methodologies is designed to forecast the number of claims we will be called upon to pay and the amounts we will pay on average to settle those claims. In arriving at our best estimate, our actuaries consider the likely predictive value of the various loss development methodologies employed in light of underwriting practices, premium rate changes and claim settlement practices that may have occurred, and weight the credibility of each methodology. Our actuarial methodologies take into account various factors, including, but not limited to, paid losses, liability estimates for reported losses, paid allocated LAE, salvage and other recoveries received, reported claim counts, open claim counts and counts for claims closed with and without payment of loss.

- 43 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Accounting for loss contingencies pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued guidance involves the existence of a condition, situation or set of circumstances involving uncertainty as to possible loss that will ultimately be resolved when one or more future event(s) occur or fail to occur. Additionally, accounting for a loss contingency requires management to assess each event as probable, reasonably possible or remote. Probable is defined as the future event or events are likely to occur. Reasonably possible is defined as the chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less than probable, while remote is defined as the chance of the future event or events occurring is slight. An estimated loss in connection with a loss contingency shall be recorded by a charge to current operations if both of the following conditions are met: First, the amount can be reasonably estimated, and second, the information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements. It is implicit in this condition that it is probable that one or more future events will occur confirming the fact of the loss or incurrence of a liability.

FASB issued guidance addresses accounting and reporting for (a) investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values and (b) all investments in debt securities. The guidance requires that these securities be classified into one of three categories, Held-to-maturity, Trading, or Available-for-sale securities.

Investments classified as held-to-maturity include debt securities wherein the Company's intent and ability are to hold the investment until maturity. The accounting treatment for held-to-maturity investments is to carry them at amortized cost without consideration to unrealized gains or losses. Investments classified as trading securities include debt and equity securities bought and held primarily for the sale in the near term. The accounting treatment for trading securities is to carry them at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses included in current period operations. Investments classified as available-for-sale include debt and equity securities that are not classified as held-to-maturity or as trading security investments. The accounting treatment for available-for-sale securities is to carry them at fair value with unrealized holding gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported as a separate component of shareholders' equity, namely "Other Comprehensive Income".

The following is an overview of management's loss reserving process

The Company's loss reserves can generally be categorized into two distinct groups. One group is short-tail classes of business consisting principally of property risks in connection with homes and automobiles. The other group is long-tail casualty classes of business which include primarily commercial general liability and to a much lesser extent, homeowner and automobile liability. For operations writing short-tail coverages our loss reserves were generally geared toward determining an expected loss ratio for current business rather than maintaining a reserve for the outstanding exposure. Estimations of ultimate net loss reserves for long-tail casualty classes of business is a more complex process and depends on a number of factors including class and volume of business involved. Experience in the more recent accident years of long-tail casualty classes of business shows limited statistical credibility in reported net losses because a relatively low proportion of net losses would be reported claims and expenses and even smaller percentage would be net losses paid. Therefore, incurred but not yet reported ("IBNR") would constitute a relatively high proportion of net losses.

Additionally, the different methodologies are utilized the same, regardless of the line of business. However, the final selection of ultimate loss and LAE is certain to vary by both line of business and by accident period maturity. There is no prescribed combination of line of business, accident year maturity, and methodologies; consistency in results of the different methodologies and reasonableness of the result are the primary factors that drive the final selection of ultimate loss and LAE.

Methods used to estimate Loss & LAE reserves

The methods we use for our short-tail business do not differ from the methods we use for our long-tail business. The Incurred and Paid Development Methods intrinsically recognize the unique development characteristics contained within the historical experience of each material short-tail and long-tail line of business. The Incurred and Paid Cape Cod Methods reflect similar historical development unique to each material short-tail and long-tail line of business.

- 44 -

#### **Table of Contents**

21st Century Holding Company
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We apply the following general methods in projecting loss and LAE reserves:

Paid and Incurred Loss Development Method

Paid and Incurred Cape Cod Method

Description of ultimate loss estimation methods

The estimated Ultimate Loss and Defense & Cost Containment Expense ("DCCE") is based on an analysis by line of business, coverage and by accident quarter performed using data as of December 31, 2010. The analysis relies primarily on four actuarial methods: Incurred Loss & DCCE Development Method, Paid Loss & DCCE Development Method, Bornhuetter-Ferguson Incurred Method, and Bornhuetter-Ferguson Paid Method. Each method relies on company experience, and, where relevant, the analysis includes comparisons to industry experience. The following is a description of each of these methods:

Incurred Loss & DCCE Development Method – This reserving method is based on the assumption that the historical incurred loss & DCCE development pattern as reflected by the Company is appropriate for estimating the future loss & DCCE development. Incurred paid plus case amounts separated by accident quarter of occurrence and at quarterly evaluations are used in this analysis. Case reserves do not have to be adequately stated for this method to be effective; they only need to have a fairly consistent level of adequacy at all stages of maturity. Historical "age-to-age" loss development factors were calculated to measure the relative development of an accident quarter from one maturity point to the next. Loss & DCCE development factors ("LDF") are selected based on a review of the historical relationships between incurred loss & DCCE at successive valuations and based on industry patterns. The LDFs are multiplied together to derive cumulative LDF's that, when multiplied by actual incurred loss & DCCE, produce estimates of ultimate loss & DCCE.

Paid Loss & DCCE Development Method – This method is similar to the Incurred Loss & DCCE Development Method only paid loss & DCCE and paid patterns are substituted for the incurred loss & DCCE and incurred patterns.

Bornhuetter-Ferguson Incurred Method – This reserving method combines estimated initial expected unreported loss & DCCE with the actual loss & DCCE to yield the ultimate loss & DCCE estimate. Expected unreported loss & DCCE are equal to expected total loss & DCCE times the expected unreported percentage of loss & DCCE for each policy year. The incurred loss & DCCE emergence pattern used to determine the unreported percentages in our projections is based on the selected LDF's from the Incurred Loss & DCCE Development Method described above. The estimate of initial expected total loss & DCCE is based on the historical loss ratio for more mature accident years. While this approach reduces the independence of the Bornhuetter-Ferguson Method from the loss & DCCE development methods for older policy years, it is used primarily for estimating ultimate loss & DCCE for more recent, less mature, policy years.

Bornhuetter-Ferguson Paid Method – This method is similar to the Bornhuetter-Ferguson Incurred Method only paid loss & DCCE and paid patterns are substituted for the incurred loss & DCCE and incurred patterns.

We select an estimate of ultimate loss & DCCE for each accident quarter after considering the results of each projection method for the quarter and the relative maturity of the quarter (the time elapsed between the start of the quarter and December 31, 2010). Reserves for unpaid losses & DCCE for each quarter are the differences between these ultimate estimates and the amount already paid. The reserves for each quarter and each coverage are summed,

and the result is the overall estimate of unpaid losses & DCCE liability for the company.

We also produce an estimate of unpaid Adjusting and Other Expense ("A&O"), as a reserve is required under statutory accounting principles even if this expense has been pre-paid or with an unconsolidated affiliate. Although we do not prepay for A&O, the majority of the A&O incurred is with an affiliated company and eliminated under the accounting principles for consolidation. The unpaid A&O is added to unpaid losses & DCCE, resulting in total unpaid losses and LAE.

The validity of the results from using a loss development approach can be affected by many conditions, such as internal claim department processing changes, a shift between single and multiple claim payments, legal changes, or variations in a company's mix of business from year to year. Also, since the percentage of losses paid for immature years is often low, development factors can be volatile. A small variation in the number of claims paid can have a leveraging effect that could lead to significant changes in estimated ultimate values. Accordingly, our reserves are estimates because there are uncertainties inherent in the determination of ultimate losses. Court decisions, regulatory changes and economic conditions can affect the ultimate cost of claims that occurred in the past as well as create uncertainties regarding future loss cost trends. We compute our estimated ultimate liability using the most appropriate principles and procedures applicable to the lines of business written. However, because the establishment of loss reserves is an inherently uncertain process, we cannot be certain that ultimate losses will not exceed the established loss reserves and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

- 45 -

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 21st Century Holding Company

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

A key assumption underlying the estimation of the reserve for loss and LAE is that past experience serves as the most reliable estimator of future events. This assumption may materially affect the estimates when the insurance market, the regulatory environment, the legal environment, the economic environment, the book of business, the claims handling department, or other factors (known or unknown) have varied over time during the experience period and / or will vary (expectedly or unexpectedly) in the future. Changes in estimates, or differences between estimates and amounts ultimately paid, are reflected in the operating results of the period during which such adjustments are made. Therefore, the ultimate liability for unpaid losses and LAE will likely differ from the amount recorded at December 31, 2010.

The following describes the extent of our procedures for determining the reserve for loss and LAE on both an annual and interim reporting basis:

Annually - Our policy is to select a single point estimate that best reflects our in-house actuarial determination for unpaid losses and LAE. Our independent actuarial firm, examining the exact same data set, will independently select a point estimate which determines a high point and low point range. Both processes rely on objective and subjective determinations. If our point estimate falls within the range determined from the point estimate of our actuary, then the Company's policy has been that no adjustments by management would be required. In consideration thereof, the company does not have a policy for adjusting the liability for unpaid losses and LAE to an amount that is different than an amount set forth within the range determined by our independent actuary, although the reserve level ultimately determined by us may not be the mid-point of our independent actuary's range. Further, there can be no assurances that our actual losses will be within our actuary's range. Our independent actuary's report expressly states that the report is based on assumptions developed from its own analysis and based on information provided by management and that notwithstanding its analysis, there is a significant risk of material adverse deviation from its range.

Interim – During 2010 our interim approach was very similar to the annual process noted above.

A number of other actuarial assumptions are generally made in the review of reserves for each class of business. For the long-tail classes of business, other actuarial assumptions generally are made with respect to the following:

- •Loss trend factors which are used to establish expected loss ratios for subsequent accident years based on the projected loss ratio for prior accident years.
- •Expected loss ratios for the latest accident year and, in some cases for accident years prior to the latest accident year. The expected loss ratio generally reflects the projected loss ratio from prior accident years, adjusted for the loss trend and the effect of rate changes and other quantifiable factors on the loss ratio.

In practice there are factors that change over time; however, many (such as inflation) are intrinsically reflected in the historical development patterns, and others typically do not materially affect the estimate of the reserve for unpaid losses and LAE. Therefore, no specific adjustments have been incorporated for such contingencies projecting future development of losses and LAE. There are no key assumptions as of December 31, 2010 premised on future emergence inconsistent with historical loss reserve development patterns.

### Table of Contents

## 21st Century Holding Company

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The table below distinguishes total loss reserves between IBNR, as discussed above, and case estimates for specific claims as established by routine claims management.

Reserves for unpaid loss and LAE net of reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2010	Case Loss Reserves	Case LAE Reserves	Total Case Reserves (Dollars in	IBNR Reserves (Including LAE) Thousands)	Reinsurance Recoverable on Unpaid Loss and Loss Expenses	Net Reserves
Homeowners'	\$4,829	\$975	\$5,804	\$16,695	\$ 5,508	\$16,991
Commercial General Liability	5,620	2,610	8,230	27,817	-	36,047
Automobile	3,353	112	3,465	4,366	1,302	6,529
Fire	-	3	3	148	-	151
Inland Marine	-	-	-	1	-	1
Total	\$13,802	\$3,700	\$17,502	\$49,027	\$ 6,810	\$59,719
					Reinsurance	
Reserves for unpaid loss and LAE net of reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2009	Case Loss Reserves	Case LAE Reserves	Total Case Reserves (Dollars in	IBNR Reserves (Including LAE) Thousands)	Recoverable on Unpaid Loss and Loss Expenses	Net Reserves
LAE net of reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2009	Reserves \$7,489		Reserves	Reserves (Including LAE)	Recoverable on Unpaid Loss and Loss	
LAE net of reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2009  Homeowners' Commercial General Liability	\$7,489 6,312	\$1,348 1,573	Reserves (Dollars in \$8,837 7,885	Reserves (Including LAE) Thousands) \$21,093 29,578	Recoverable on Unpaid Loss and Loss Expenses  \$ 11,666	\$18,264 37,463
LAE net of reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2009	Reserves \$7,489	Reserves \$1,348	Reserves (Dollars in \$8,837	Reserves (Including LAE) Thousands) \$21,093 29,578 2,888	Recoverable on Unpaid Loss and Loss Expenses	\$18,264 37,463 3,278
LAE net of reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2009  Homeowners' Commercial General Liability Automobile Fire	\$7,489 6,312	\$1,348 1,573	Reserves (Dollars in \$8,837 7,885	Reserves (Including LAE) Thousands) \$21,093 29,578	Recoverable on Unpaid Loss and Loss Expenses  \$ 11,666	\$18,264 37,463
LAE net of reinsurance recoverable as of December 31, 2009  Homeowners' Commercial General Liability Automobile	\$7,489 6,312	\$1,348 1,573 188	Reserves (Dollars in \$8,837 7,885 474	Reserves (Including LAE) Thousands) \$21,093 29,578 2,888	Recoverable on Unpaid Loss and Loss Expenses  \$ 11,666	\$18,264 37,463 3,278